BERRY PETROLEUM CO

Form 10-Q October 24, 2013

Use these links to rapidly review the document

**TABLE OF CONTENTS** 

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-Q

T Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013

o Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-9735 BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 77-0079387

(State of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

1999 Broadway, Suite 3700 Denver, Colorado 80202

(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (303) 999-4400

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES T NO £ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). YES T NO £

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Non-accelerated filer £

Large accelerated filer T Accelerated filer £ (Do not check if a Smaller reporting company £

smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YES £ NO T As of October 21, 2013 the registrant had 52,712,863 shares of Class A Common Stock (\$0.01 par value) outstanding. The registrant also had 1,763,866 shares of Class B Stock (\$0.01 par value) outstanding on October 21, 2013, all of which is held by a single holder.

# Table of Contents

## BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY INDEX TO FORM 10-Q September 30, 2013

	Page
PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	<u>3</u>
Item 1. Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)	<u>3</u> <u>3</u>
Condensed Balance Sheets at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012	<u>3</u>
2012	<u>4</u>
Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Earnings for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012	<u>5</u>
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012	<u>6</u>
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements	<u>7</u> <u>8</u>
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>21</u>
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>39</u>
<u>Item 4. Controls and Procedures</u>	<u>42</u>
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
<u>Item 1. Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>43</u>
Item 1A. Risk Factors	<u>43</u>
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>43</u>
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	<u>43</u>
Item 4. Removed and Reserved	<u>43</u>
<u>Item 5. Other Information</u>	43 43 43 44
Item 6. Exhibits	<u>44</u>
<u>Signatures</u>	<u>45</u>
2	

# Table of Contents

### PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

**Condensed Balance Sheets** 

(Unaudited)

(In Thousands, Except Share Information)

	September 30, 2013	December 31, 2012
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$24,055	\$312
Restricted short-term investments	125	125
Accounts receivable	148,019	122,159
Deferred income taxes	1,574	703
Derivative instruments	4,960	14,661
Prepaid expenses and other	18,304	19,065
Total current assets	197,037	157,025
Oil and natural gas properties (successful efforts basis), buildings and equipment, net	3,315,247	3,128,502
Derivative instruments	17,245	10,891
Other assets	24,382	28,984
	\$3,553,911	\$3,325,402
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$103,034	\$175,893
Revenue and royalties payable	50,859	57,021
Accrued liabilities	53,969	51,151
Derivative instruments	8,561	1,111
Deferred income taxes		1,456
10.25% Senior notes due 2014, net of unamortized discount of \$1,141	204,116	_
Total current liabilities	420,539	286,632
Long-term liabilities:	,	,
Deferred income taxes	331,734	255,471
Senior secured revolving credit facility	636,000	562,900
10.25% Senior notes due 2014, net of unamortized discount of \$2,340	<del></del>	202,917
6.75% Senior notes due 2020	300,000	300,000
6.375% Senior notes due 2022	600,000	600,000
Asset retirement obligations	98,374	82,316
Derivative instruments	—	1,239
Other long-term liabilities	33,870	19,136
outer rong with nucleus	1,999,978	2,023,979
Shareholders' equity:	1,222,270	2,020,575
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized; no shares outstanding		
Capital stock, \$0.01 par value:		
Class A Common Stock, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 52,691,955 and 52,428,423		
shares issued and outstanding, respectively	527	524
Class B Stock, 3,000,000 shares authorized; 1,763,866 shares issued and outstanding		
(liquidation preference of \$0.50 per share)	18	18
Capital in excess of par value	374,538	364,710
Cupitul III CACCOS Of put value	317,330	507,710

 Retained earnings
 758,311
 649,539

 Total shareholders' equity
 1,133,394
 1,014,791

 \$3,553,911
 \$3,325,402

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Financial Statements.

# **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Condensed Statements of Operations

(Unaudited)

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

	Three Month	Three Months Ended		Ended	
	September 30	),	September 30	0,	
	2013	2012	2013	2012	
REVENUES					
Oil and natural gas sales	\$306,183	\$232,916	\$847,670	\$688,350	
Electricity sales	10,046	9,514	27,148	21,354	
Natural gas marketing	1,916	1,939	6,198	5,378	
Gain on sale of assets		170	23	1,770	
Interest and other income, net	249	286	1,098	1,678	
	318,394	244,825	882,137	718,530	
EXPENSES					
Operating costs—oil and natural gas production	91,416	70,670	268,841	187,318	
Operating costs—electricity generation	5,401	4,727	17,034	14,000	
Production taxes	11,060	9,700	32,848	30,048	
Depreciation, depletion & amortization—oil and natural gas production	73,011	58,887	210,934	158,869	
Depreciation, depletion & amortization—electricity generation	456	461	1,283	1,382	
Natural gas marketing	1,895	1,753	5,971	4,917	
General and administrative	17,834	17,767	59,542	53,473	
Interest	24,996	20,572	74,562	61,446	
Dry hole, abandonment, impairment and exploratio	n 1,624	2,837	3,458	7,456	
Impairment of oil and natural gas properties			2,467	67	
Extinguishment of debt				41,545	
Realized and unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives, net	45,293	28,287	10,408	(56,314	)
	272,986	215,661	687,348	504,207	
Earnings before income taxes	45,408	29,164	194,789	214,323	
Income tax provision	17,230	11,038	72,813	81,283	
Net earnings	\$28,178	\$18,126	\$121,976	\$133,040	
Basic net earnings per share	\$0.51	\$0.33	\$2.20	\$2.41	
Diluted net earnings per share	\$0.50	\$0.33	\$2.19	\$2.39	
Dividends per share	\$0.08	\$0.08	\$0.24	\$0.24	
	C 1 11	7. 1.0.			

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Financial Statements.

# Table of Contents

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Earnings (Unaudited)

(In Thousands)

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended	
	September 30	,	September 30.	,
	2013	2012	2013	2012
Net earnings	\$28,178	\$18,126	\$121,976	\$133,040
Other comprehensive earnings, net of income taxes:				
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive loss				
(AOCL) related to de-designated hedges, net of income	_	1,505		3,781
tax benefits of \$0, \$924, \$0 and \$2,318, respectively				
Other comprehensive earnings	\$	\$1,505	<b>\$</b> —	\$3,781
Comprehensive earnings	\$28,178	\$19,631	\$121,976	\$136,821
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Co	ndensed Finan	cial Statements		

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Financial Statements.

# Table of Contents

# BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(In Thousands)

(III Thousands)			
	Nine Months Ended		
	September 30,		
	2013	2012	
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net earnings	\$121,976	\$133,040	
Depreciation, depletion and amortization	212,217	160,251	
Gain on sale of assets	(23)	(1,770	)
Extinguishment of debt		6,842	
Amortization of debt issuance costs and net discount	5,197	5,350	
Impairment of oil and natural gas properties	2,467	67	
Dry hole and impairment	1,441	2,515	
Derivatives	9,559	(34,760	)
Stock-based compensation expense	8,491	7,589	
Deferred income taxes	85,280	77,511	
Other, net	5,208	(1,620	)
Allowance for bad debt		450	
Change in book overdraft	(14,885	7,573	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	(29,975)	504	
Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other current assets	456	(2,634	)
Accounts payable and revenue and royalties payable	(4,888	15,097	
Accrued interest and other accrued liabilities	2,785	15,611	
Net cash provided by operating activities	405,306	391,616	
Cash flows from investing activities:	,	,, ,	
Development and exploration of oil and natural gas properties	(445,645	(524,036	)
Property acquisitions	·	(75,706	)
Capitalized interest	(4,978	(13,977	)
Proceeds from sale of assets	11,530	17,294	
Deposits on asset sales		(3,300	)
Net cash used in investing activities	(442,460	(599,725	)
Cash flows from financing activities:	,		
Proceeds from issuance of 6.375% Senior notes due 2022	_	600,000	
Repurchase of 8.25% Senior subordinated notes due 2016	_	(200,000	)
Repurchase of 10.25% Senior notes due 2014	_	(149,999	)
Long-term borrowings under credit facility	559,900	1,215,500	
Repayments of long-term borrowings under credit facility	•	(1,237,000	)
Financing obligation	(339)	(309	)
Debt issuance costs	<del></del>	(11,424	)
Dividends paid	(13,204)	(13,160	)
Stock options and restricted stock issued	368	3,551	
Excess income tax benefit	972	756	
Net cash provided by financing activities	60,897	207,915	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	23,743	(194	)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	312	298	,
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$24,055	\$104	
*	, ,		

Noncash investing activities:

Accrued capital expenditures \$40,164 \$61,044 Asset retirement obligations 13,222 16,854

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Financial Statements.

### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Balances at September 30, 2013

Condensed Statements of Shareholders' Equity (Unaudited) (In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

	Class A	Class B	Capital in Excess of Par Value	Retained Earnings	Total Shareholders' Equity
Balances at December 31, 2012	\$524	\$18	\$364,710	\$649,539	\$1,014,791
Stock options and restricted stock issued	3	_	365	_	368
Stock based compensation expense	_	_	8,491	_	8,491
Income tax effect of stock option exercises	_	_	972	_	972
Dividends (\$0.24 per share)	_	_	_	(13,204)	(13,204)
Net earnings	_	_	_	121,976	121,976

\$18

\$374,538

\$758,311

\$1,133,394

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Financial Statements.

\$527

#### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

These Condensed Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for interim financial reporting. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the unaudited Condensed Financial Statements do not include all disclosures required by GAAP. For a more complete understanding of Berry Petroleum Company's (the Company) operations, financial position and accounting policies, the unaudited Condensed Financial Statements and notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, previously filed with the SEC.

All adjustments, consisting of normal and recurring accruals, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary to fairly state the Company's Condensed Financial Statements have been included herein. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of expected annual results because of the impact of fluctuations in prices received for oil and natural gas, as well as other factors. In the course of preparing the Condensed Financial Statements, management makes various assumptions, judgments and estimates to determine the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and to prepare disclosures of commitments and contingencies. Changes in these assumptions, judgments and estimates will occur as a result of the passage of time and the occurrence of future events, and, accordingly, actual results could differ from amounts previously established.

The Company's cash management process provides for the daily funding of checks as they are presented to the bank. Included in accounts payable at December 31, 2012 was \$14.9 million, representing outstanding checks in excess of the bank balance (book overdraft). There were no outstanding checks in excess of the bank balance at September 30, 2013.

### Recent Accounting Standards

There are no material new accounting pronouncements that have been issued but not yet adopted by the Company as of September 30, 2013.

### 2. Acquisitions and Divestitures

#### 2012 Acquisitions

On September 12, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of approximately 14,000 net acres contiguous to the Company's Brundage Canyon asset in the Uinta for an aggregate purchase price of \$39.6 million, including usual and customary post-closing adjustments. Disclosures of purchase price allocation and also of pro forma revenues and net earnings for this acquisition are not material and have not been presented.

On April 13, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of approximately 2,000 net acres and one well in the Wolfberry trend in the Permian for an aggregate purchase price of \$14.9 million including usual and customary post-closing adjustments. Disclosures of purchase price allocation and also of pro forma revenues and net earnings for this acquisition are not material and have not been presented.

#### 2012 Divestiture

On December 21, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its proved developed properties in Elko, Eureka and Nye Counties, Nevada, which closed on January 31, 2012, for total cash consideration of \$15.6 million. The Company recorded a \$1.6 million gain in conjunction with the sale. The gain was recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption gain on sale of assets.

Table of Contents
BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

#### 3. Debt

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

As of September 30, 2013, the Company's credit facility, which matures on May 13, 2016, had a borrowing base of \$1.4 billion, subject to lender commitments. At September 30, 2013, lender commitments under the facility were \$1.2 billion. Borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at either (i) LIBOR plus a margin between 1.50% and 2.50% or (ii) the prime rate plus a margin between 0.50% and 1.50%, in each case, based on the amount utilized. The annual commitment fee on the unused portion of the credit facility ranges between 0.35% and 0.50% based on the amount utilized.

As of September 30, 2013, there were \$636.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the credit facility and \$26.8 million in outstanding letters of credit, leaving \$537.2 million in borrowing capacity available under the credit facility. The maximum amount available under the credit facility is subject to semi-annual redeterminations of the borrowing base in April and October of each year, based on the value of the Company's proved oil and natural gas reserves, in accordance with the lenders' customary procedures and practices. The Company and the lenders each have the right to one additional redetermination each year. On October 22, 2013, the Company entered into a Sixth Amendment to its credit facility, which amended certain terms of the credit facility. See Note 12 to the Condensed Financial Statements.

### Maturity of 2014 Notes

The Company's 10.25% senior notes due 2014 (2014 Notes) are scheduled to mature on June 1, 2014. As a result, all \$205.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Notes is classified as a current obligation on the Company's Condensed Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2013. The Company's ability to repay or refinance the aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Notes is subject to restrictions contained in the Merger Agreement. See Note 11 to the Condensed Financial Statements. While the Company has not yet determined how it will repay or refinance the 2014 Notes, the Company may do so through multiple methods which it may pursue separately or in combination, including (i) issuing new debt or equity securities and (ii) borrowing under the Company's credit facility. Although the Company believes it will be able to complete a refinancing transaction prior to the maturity of the 2014 Notes, if the Company is unable to complete a refinancing or otherwise repay such debt, it would be in default under the indenture governing the 2014 Notes, which would also cause the Company to be in default under its credit facility and the indentures governing its other senior notes, and would result in indebtedness outstanding under those agreements to be declared immediately due and payable.

### 4. Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was 37.9% and 37.8%, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was 37.4% and 37.9%, respectively. The Company's provision for income taxes differed from the U.S. statutory rate of 35% primarily due to state income taxes, domestic production activities deduction, percentage depletion, nondeductible employee compensation and other permanent differences.

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had a gross liability for uncertain income tax benefits of \$20.1 million, \$15.0 million of which, if recognized, would impact the effective income tax rate. During the second quarter of 2013, the Company recognized a benefit of \$1.9 million related to closing statutes. Consistent with the Company's policy,

interest and penalties on income taxes have been recorded as a component of the income tax provision. The Company estimates that it is reasonably possible that the balance of unrecognized income tax benefits as of September 30, 2013 could decrease by a maximum of \$4.8 million in the next 12 months due to the expiration of statutes of limitation and audit settlements.

Table of Contents
BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

#### 5. Earnings Per Share

Basic net earnings per share is computed using the two-class method by dividing net earnings attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding-basic during each period. The two-class method of computing net earnings per share is required for those entities that have participating securities. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines net earnings per share for participating securities according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and participation rights in undistributed earnings. Unvested restricted shares issued under the Company's equity incentive plans prior to January 1, 2010 have the right to receive non-forfeitable dividends, participating on an equal basis with common shares, and thus are classified as participating securities. Participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in the Company's losses. Therefore, in periods of net loss, no portion of the loss is allocated to participating securities.

Diluted earnings per share is computed using the two-class method by dividing earnings available to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding-dilutive, which includes the effect of potentially dilutive securities. Under the two-class method, potentially dilutive securities consist of non-participating securities (e.g. stock options and unvested restricted stock awards issued subsequent to January 1, 2010). No potential shares of common stock are included in the computation of any diluted per share amount when a net loss exists.

The following table shows the computation of basic and diluted net earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:

	Three Months September 30		Nine Months September 30	
(in thousands, except per share data)	2013	2012	2013	2012
Net earnings	\$28,178	\$18,126	\$121,976	\$133,040
Less: Net earnings allocable to participating securities	72	118	265	709
Net earnings available for common shareholders	\$28,106	\$18,008	\$121,711	\$132,331
Basic net earnings per share	\$0.51	\$0.33	\$2.20	\$2.41
Diluted net earnings per share	\$0.50	\$0.33	\$2.19	\$2.39
Basic weighted average shares outstanding	55,308	54,945	55,267	54,883
Add: Dilutive effects of stock options and RSUs	370	336	384	395
Dilutive weighted average shares outstanding	55,678	55,281	55,651	55,278

Not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation were 0.4 million and 0.7 million stock options and RSUs, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. Not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation were 0.7 million and 0.6 million stock options and RSUs, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, respectively, because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

### Table of Contents

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

#### 6. Asset Retirement Obligations

The following table summarizes the activity for the Company's asset retirement obligations (AROs) for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:

	Nine Months Ended					
	September 3	30,				
(in thousands)	2013	2012				
Beginning balance at January 1	\$86,746	\$64,019				
Liabilities incurred	7,315	5,862				
Liabilities settled	(2,589	) (2,763	)			
Liabilities assumed	_	2,651				
Disposition of assets	(40	) (705	)			
Accretion expense	5,465	4,201				
Revisions in estimated cash flows	5,907	10,992				
Ending balance at September 30	\$102,804	\$84,257				

ARO reflects the estimated present value of the amount of dismantlement, removal, site reclamation and similar activities associated with the Company's oil and natural gas properties. Inherent in the fair value calculation of ARO are numerous assumptions and judgments including the ultimate settlement amounts, inflation factors, credit adjusted discount rates, timing of settlement and changes in the legal, regulatory, environmental and political environments. To the extent future revisions to these assumptions impact the fair value of the existing ARO liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the oil and natural gas property balance.

### 7. Equity Incentive Compensation Plans

Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the awards. The fair value is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period (generally the vesting period).

Total compensation cost recognized in the Condensed Statements of Operations for the grants under the Company's equity incentive compensation plans was \$2.5 million and \$2.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and \$8.1 million and \$7.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

#### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

### **Stock Options**

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in thousands)(1)	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (Years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2013	1,387,592	\$33.71	\$4,681	4.08
Granted				
Exercised	(22,350)	17.23	604	
Canceled/expired	_			
Outstanding at September 30, 2013	1,365,242	\$33.98	\$13,561	3.38
Vested and expected to vest at September 30, 2013	1,364,054	\$33.96	\$13,561	3.37
Exercisable at September 30, 2013	1,259,022	\$32.53	\$13,561	2.99

The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock at the end of the related period exceeds the exercise price of the option.

As of September 30, 2013, there were \$1.8 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to outstanding stock options. These costs are expected to be recognized over 2.5 years.

### Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit (RSU) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

		Weighted	Vest Date
	DOIL.	Average	Fair
	RSUs	<b>Grant Date</b>	Value
		Fair Value	(in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2013	981,877	\$26.72	
Granted	264,033	45.27	
Issued	(182,180	) 24.76	\$7,122
Canceled/expired	(21,048	) 44.81	
Outstanding at September 30, 2013(1)(2)	1,042,682	\$31.97	

<sup>(1)</sup> The balance outstanding includes 58,036 RSUs granted to non-employee directors that are 100% vested at date of grant, but are subject to deferral elections delaying the date on which the corresponding shares are issued. The balance outstanding includes 510,967 RSUs granted to executive officers and other officers that have vested in (2) accordance with the RSU agreement but are subject to deferral elections delaying the date on which the corresponding shares are issued.

As of September 30, 2013, there were \$17.0 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to RSUs granted. These costs are expected to be recognized over 3.5 years.

#### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

7. Equity Incentive Compensation Plans (Continued)

### Performance Share Program

The following table summarizes performance share award activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

	Performance Share Awards(1)		Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value	Vest Date Fair Value (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2013	222,587		\$45.79	
Granted	_			
Issued	(64,922	)	32.75	\$2,990
Canceled/expired	(34,742	)	28.32	
Outstanding at September 30, 2013	122,923		\$57.61	

<sup>(1)</sup> For outstanding shares, reflects the maximum number of performance shares that can be issued.

As of September 30, 2013, there were \$1.2 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to performance shares granted. These costs are expected to be recognized over 1.3 years.

#### 8. Derivative Instruments

The Company uses financial derivative instruments as part of its price risk management program to achieve a more predictable, economic cash flow from its oil production by reducing its exposure to price fluctuations. The Company has historically entered into financial commodity swap and collar contracts to fix the floor and ceiling prices received for a portion of the Company's oil and natural gas production. During the second quarter of 2012, the Company began entering into derivative contracts to fix the floor and ceiling prices paid for a portion of its natural gas consumption. The terms of the Company's derivative contracts depend on various factors, including management's view of future crude oil and natural gas prices, acquisition economics on purchased assets, future financial commitments, and other considerations. The Company periodically enters into interest rate derivative agreements to protect against changes in interest rates on its floating rate debt. The Company recognizes all gains and losses from changes in commodity derivative fair values immediately in earnings. For further discussion related to the fair value of the Company's derivatives, see Note 9 to the Condensed Financial Statements.

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had commodity derivatives associated with the following volumes:

	2013	2014	2015
Oil sales, Bbl/D	19,800	21,000	3,000
Natural gas purchases, MMBtu/D	10,000	_	_

The Company entered into the following derivative instruments during the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

Crude Oil Sales Three-Way Collars			
Term	Index	Average	Sold Put / Purchased Put / Sold
		Barrels	Call

Per Day

 Full year 2013 and 2014
 ICE Brent
 1,000
 \$80.00 / \$100.00 / \$114.05

 Full year 2014
 NYMEX WTI
 1,000
 \$70.00 / \$90.00 / \$102.00

Crude Oil Sales (NYMEX WTI) Swaps

Term Average Barrels
Per Day Weighted Average Price

Full year 2014 11,500 \$90.14

#### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

(in millions)

8. Derivative Instruments (Continued)

Term	Average Barrels Per Day	Weighted Average Price
Full year 2014	10,000	\$11.60
Full year 2015	8,000	\$11.60
Crude Oil Sales (NYMEX WTI to Midland) Basis Swaps		
Term	Average Barrels Per Day	Weighted Average Price
April 2013 - December 2013	4,000	\$1.48

In March 2012, the Company terminated certain of its natural gas derivative instruments, which were associated with a total of 15,000 MMBtu/D for the remainder of 2012. The termination resulted in a net loss of \$1.9 million, including cash settlements and non-cash fair value losses, and was recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption realized and unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives, net.

The Company routinely enters into derivative contracts with a variety of counterparties, typically resulting in individual derivative instruments with both fair value asset and liability positions. The Company nets the fair values of derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty pursuant to ISDA master agreements, which mitigate the credit risk of the Company's derivative instruments by providing for net settlement over the term of the contract and in the event of default or termination of the contract. The tables below summarize the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities and the effect of netting on the Condensed Balance Sheets:

September 30, 2013

Description	Balance Sheet Classification	Gross Amounts of Recognized Assets or Liabilities	Gross Amounts Offsein the Condensed Balance Sheets	Net Amounts of et Assets or Liabilities Presented in the Condensed Balance Sheets
Assets Commodity dominative				
Commodity derivative instruments	Current	\$21.8	\$(16.8	\$5.0
Commodity derivative instruments	Long-term	19.6	(2.4	) 17.2
Total assets		\$41.4	\$(19.2	\$22.2
Liabilities				
Commodity derivative instruments	Current	\$25.4	\$(16.8	\$8.6
Commodity derivative instruments	Long-term	2.4	(2.4	) —
Total liabilities		\$27.8	\$(19.2	\$8.6

### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

8. Derivative Instruments (Continued)

(in millions)		December 31, 2012		
Description	Balance Sheet Classification	Gross Amounts of Recognized Assets or Liabilities	Gross Amounts Offse in the Condensed Balance Sheets	Net Amounts of Assets or Liabilities Presented in the Condensed Balance Sheets
Assets				
Commodity derivative instruments	Current	\$16.4	\$(1.7	\$14.7
Commodity derivative instruments	Long-term	10.9	_	10.9
Total assets		\$27.3	\$(1.7	\$25.6
Liabilities				
Commodity derivative instruments	Current	\$2.8	\$(1.7	\$1.1
Commodity derivative instruments	Long-term	1.2	_	1.2
Total liabilities		\$4.0	\$(1.7	\$2.3

The table below summarizes the location and the amount of derivative instrument losses (gains) before income taxes reported in the Condensed Statements of Operations for the periods indicated:

(in millions)	Location of Loss (Gain)	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months I September 30,		
Description of Loss (Gain)	Recognized in Earnings	2013	2012	2013	2012	
Commodity						
Loss reclassified from AOCL						
into earnings (amortization of	Oil and natural gas sales	<b>\$</b> —	\$2.7	<b>\$</b> —	\$7.9	
frozen amounts)						
Loss (gain) recognized in	Realized and unrealized					
earnings (cash settlements and	loss (gain) on	45.3	28.3	10.4	(56.3	)
mark-to-market movements)	derivatives, net					
Interest rate						
Gain reclassified from AOCL						
into earnings (amortization of	Interest	\$—	\$(0.3	) \$—	\$(1.8	)
frozen amounts)						

### Credit Risk

The Company does not require collateral or other security from counterparties to support derivative instruments. However, the agreements with those counterparties typically contain netting provisions such that if a default occurs, the non-defaulting party can offset the amount payable to the defaulting party under the derivative contract with the amount due from the defaulting party. As a result of the netting provisions, the Company's maximum amount of loss

due to credit risk is limited to the net amounts due to and from the counterparties under the derivative contracts. The maximum amount of loss due to credit risk that the Company would have incurred if all counterparties to its derivative contracts failed to perform at September 30, 2013 was \$16.0 million.

As of September 30, 2013, the counterparties to the Company's commodity derivative contracts consist of nine financial institutions. The Company's counterparties or their affiliates are also lenders under the Company's credit facility. As a result, the counterparties to the Company's derivative agreements share in the collateral supporting the Company's credit facility. The Company is not generally required to post additional collateral under derivative agreements.

Certain of the Company's derivative agreements contain cross default provisions that require acceleration of amounts due under such agreements if the Company were to default on its obligations under its material debt agreements. In addition, if the Company were to default on certain of its material debt agreements, including its derivative agreements, the Company would be

#### **Table of Contents**

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

8. Derivative Instruments (Continued)

in default under the credit facility. As of September 30, 2013, the Company was in a net liability position with one of the counterparties to the Company's derivative instruments, totaling \$2.3 million. As of September 30, 2013, the Company's largest two counterparties accounted for 62% of the value of its total net derivative positions.

#### 9. Fair Value Measurements

The authoritative guidance for fair value measurements establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs for use when little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

A financial instrument's categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the classification of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy. The Company recognizes transfers between levels at the end of the reporting period for which the transfer has occurred.

The fair value of all derivative instruments is estimated with industry-standard models that consider various assumptions, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors and current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other relevant economic measures. The fair value of all derivative instruments is estimated using a combined income and market valuation methodology based upon forward commodity price and volatility curves. The curves are obtained from independent pricing services, and the Company has made no adjustments to the obtained prices. The independent pricing services publish observable market information from multiple brokers and exchanges. All valuations were compared against counterparty valuations to verify the reasonableness of prices. The Company also considers counterparty credit risk and its own credit risk in its determination of all estimated fair values. The Company has consistently applied these valuation techniques in all periods presented and believes it has obtained the most accurate information available for the types of derivative contracts it holds.

#### Assets (Liabilities) Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents information about the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized by the Company to determine such fair values:

(in millions)	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Commodity derivative asset, net				
September 30, 2013	\$13.6	\$—	\$13.6	<b>\$</b> —
December 31, 2012	\$23.2	\$—	\$23.2	<b>\$</b> —

#### **Table of Contents**

BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

9. Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

#### Fair Market Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses various assumptions and methods in estimating the fair values of its financial instruments. The following table presents fair value information about the Company's financial instruments:

Carrying Amount	Estimated Fair Valu			
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
\$24	\$24	\$	<b>\$</b> —	\$24
636		636		636
205	217			217
300	308			308
600	605			605
	Amount \$24 636 205 300	Amount Fair Valu Level 1 \$24 \$24 636 — 205 217 300 308	Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 \$24 \$24 \$— 636 — 636 205 217 — 300 308 —	Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  \$24 \$24 \$— \$—  636 — 636 —  205 217 — —  300 308 — —

The Company's credit facility can be repaid at any time without penalty. Interest is generally fixed for 30-day increments at the prime rate or LIBOR plus a stipulated margin for the amount utilized and at a stipulated

<sup>(2)</sup> Carrying amount does not include unamortized discount of \$1.1 million.

December 31, 2012	Carrying Amount	Estimated Fair Valu			
(in millions)		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Cash and cash equivalents	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$	\$
Senior secured revolving credit facility(1)	563		563		563
10.25% Senior notes due 2014(2)	205	229			229
6.75% Senior notes due 2020	300	323			323
6.375% Senior notes due 2022	600	627			627

The Company's credit facility can be repaid at any time without penalty. Interest is generally fixed for 30-day increments at the prime rate or LIBOR plus a stipulated margin for the amount utilized and at a stipulated

### 10. Commitments and Contingencies

### E. Texas Gathering System

In July 2009, the Company closed on the financing of its E. Texas natural gas gathering system for \$18.4 million in cash. The Company entered into concurrent long-term natural gas gathering agreements for the E. Texas production which contained an embedded lease. Accordingly, the \$16.7 million net book value of the property is being depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset and the cash received of \$18.4 million was recorded as a

<sup>(1)</sup> percentage as a commitment fee for the portion not utilized. The carrying amount of the credit facility approximated fair value due to the short-term maturities of the borrowings and because the borrowings bear interest at variable market rates.

<sup>(1)</sup> percentage as a commitment fee for the portion not utilized. The carrying amount of the credit facility approximated fair value due to the short-term maturities of the borrowings and because the borrowings bear interest at variable market rates.

<sup>(2)</sup> Carrying amount does not include unamortized discount of \$2.3 million.

financing obligation. A portion of the payments under the agreements is recorded as gathering expense and is presented in the Condensed Financial Statements under the caption operating costs—oil and natural gas production. In addition, a portion of the payments is recorded as interest expense, and the balance of the payments is recorded as a reduction to the financing obligation. There are no minimum payments required under these agreements. For the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred net costs of \$0.5 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, under the agreements. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred net costs of \$1.5 million and \$2.0 million, respectively, under the agreements.

#### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

### Carry and Earning Agreement

In January 2011, the Company entered into an amendment relating to certain contractual obligations to a third-party co-owner of certain Piceance assets in Colorado. The amendment waives the \$0.2 million penalty for each well not spud by February 2011 and requires the Company to reassign to such co-owner, by January 31, 2020, all of the interest acquired by the Company from the co-owner in each 160-acre tract in which the Company has not drilled and completed a well that is producing or capable of producing from a designated formation, or deeper formation, on January 1, 2020. The amendment also requires the Company to pay the first \$9.0 million of costs incurred in connection with the construction of either an extension of the existing access road or a new access road, including the third party's 50% share. Pursuant to the terms of a further amendment effective June 2013, if by September 30, 2014, the Company does not expend \$9.0 million on the construction of either the extension of the road or a new road, the Company is obligated to pay the third party 50% of the difference between \$12.0 million and the actual amount expended on road construction as of such date. This deadline is subject to further extension to no later than December 31, 2014 under the terms of the amendment. Due to the need to obtain regulatory approvals, among other reasons, the Company has not yet commenced construction of either an extension of the existing access road or a new access road and may be unable to do so by the extended deadline, thus triggering the payment obligation to the third party.

#### Legal Matters

Department of the Interior Notice of Proposed Debarment. On June 14, 2012, the Company received a Notice of Proposed Debarment issued by the United States Department of the Interior (DOI). Pursuant to the notice, the DOI's Office of the Inspector General proposed to debar the Company from participation in certain federal contracts and assistance activities, including oil and natural gas leases, for a period of three years. The basis for the proposed debarment relates to the Company's purported noncompliance with Bureau of Land Management (BLM) regulations relating to the operation of certain equipment, and the submission of related site facility diagrams, in its Uinta operations. In 2011, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the BLM and paid a \$2.1 million civil penalty relating to the matter. The Company has contested the proposed debarment and believes the matter is without merit; nevertheless, in June 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with the DOI to resolve the matter administratively through an independent compliance review. The Company believes the compliance review will be completed during the fourth quarter of 2013.

Other. The Company is involved in various other lawsuits, claims and inquiries, most of which are routine to the nature of its business. In the opinion of management, the resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or operating cash flows.

#### **Environmental Matters**

The Company has no material accrued environmental liabilities for its sites, including sites in which governmental agencies have designated the Company as a potentially responsible party, because it is not probable that a loss will be incurred and the minimum cost and/or amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated. However, due to some of the uncertainties associated with environmental assessment and remediation activities, future expense to remediate the currently identified sites, and sites identified in the future, if any, could be incurred. Management believes, based upon current site assessments, that the ultimate resolution of any matters will not result in material costs incurred.

#### 11. LinnCo, LLC Merger

On February 20, 2013, the Company, Linn Energy, LLC (Linn), LinnCo, LLC (LinnCo), Linn Acquisition Company, LLC, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of LinnCo (LinnCo Merger Sub), Bacchus HoldCo, Inc., a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (HoldCo), and Bacchus Merger Sub, Inc., a direct wholly owned subsidiary of HoldCo (Bacchus Merger Sub), entered into a definitive Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement), pursuant to which LinnCo agreed to acquire the Company in an all-stock transaction in which the Company's stockholders would receive 1.25 shares representing limited liability company interests in LinnCo (LinnCo Shares) for each share of the Company's common stock.

### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)
11. LinnCo, LLC Merger (Continued)

The transaction will occur through multiple steps. First, the Company will engage in a holding company merger (the HoldCo Merger) involving HoldCo and Bacchus Merger Sub. In the HoldCo Merger, Bacchus Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of HoldCo, and each issued and outstanding share of the Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock will convert into the right to receive one equivalent share of Class A common stock and one equivalent share of Class B common stock, respectively, of HoldCo.

Second, promptly after the HoldCo Merger, the Company will be converted into a limited liability company. Third, promptly following such conversion, HoldCo will be merged with and into LinnCo Merger Sub, with LinnCo Merger Sub surviving as the surviving company (the LinnCo Merger). In the LinnCo Merger, each share of Holdco's Class A common stock and each share of Holdco's Class B common stock will be converted into 1.25 LinnCo Shares.

Finally, promptly following the LinnCo Merger, LinnCo will contribute all of the outstanding equity interests in LinnCo Merger Sub (and therefore also its indirect ownership interest in the Company) to Linn (the Contribution) in exchange for the issuance to LinnCo (the Issuance) of newly issued Linn common units. The number of Linn common units to be issued to LinnCo in the Issuance will be equal to the greater of (i) the aggregate number of LinnCo Shares issued in the LinnCo Merger and (ii) the number of Linn common units required to cause LinnCo to own no less than one-third of all of the outstanding Linn common units following the Contribution. In addition, for three years following the closing, Linn will pay to LinnCo additional cash distributions in the amount of \$6 million per year.

The closing of the transactions is subject to customary closing conditions, including approval of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby by the stockholders of the Company and the holders of the shares or units of LinnCo and Linn, respectively, receipt of certain opinions by the parties with respect to the tax-free nature of the transactions, and other customary conditions. The closing will not occur on or prior to October 31, 2013 (the End Date), and any of the Company, Linn, or LinnCo may unilaterally terminate the Merger Agreement after the End Date. There can be no assurances as to whether the parties will agree to extend the End Date or that the parties will refrain from exercising their rights to terminate the Merger Agreement.

On March 21, 2013, a purported stockholder class action captioned Nancy P. Assad Trust v. Berry Petroleum Co., et al. was filed in the District Court for the City and County of Denver, Colorado, No. 13-CV-31365. The action names as defendants the Company, the members of its board of directors, HoldCo, Bacchus Merger Sub, LinnCo, LINN and LinnCo Merger Sub. On April 5, 2013, an amended complaint was filed, which alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the transactions by engaging in an unfair sales process that resulted in an unfair price for the Company, by failing to disclose all material information regarding the transactions, and that the entity defendants aided and abetted those breaches of fiduciary duty. The amended complaint seeks a declaration that the transactions are unlawful and unenforceable, an order directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties, an injunction against consummation of the transactions, or, in the event they are completed, rescission of the transactions, an award of fees and costs, including attorneys' and experts' fees and expenses, and other relief. On May 21, 2013, the Colorado District Court stayed and administratively closed the Nancy P. Assad Trust action in favor of the Hall action described below that is pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery. On July 19, 2013, the plaintiffs in the Nancy P. Assad Trust action voluntarily dismissed the case without prejudice.

On April 12, 2013, a purported stockholder class action captioned David Hall v. Berry Petroleum Co., et al. was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery, C.A. No. 8476-VCG. The complaint names as defendants the Company, the members of its board of directors, HoldCo, Bacchus Merger Sub, LinnCo, LINN and LinnCo Merger Sub. The

complaint alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the transactions by engaging in an unfair sales process that resulted in an unfair price for the Company, by failing to disclose all material information regarding the transactions, and that the entity defendants aided and abetted those breaches of fiduciary duty. The complaint seeks a declaration that the transactions are unlawful and unenforceable, an order directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties, an injunction against consummation of the transactions, or, in the event they are completed, rescission of the transactions, an award of fees and costs, including attorneys' and experts' fees and expenses, and other relief. The Company is unable to estimate a possible loss, or range of possible losses, if any, at this time. The Company believes the claims relating to the merger are without merit, and intends to defend such actions vigorously.

#### BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Continued) (Unaudited)

### 12. Subsequent Event

### Credit Facility Amendment

On October 22, 2013, as part of the semi-annual borrowing base redetermination process, the Company entered into the Sixth Amendment to its Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (the Sixth Amendment). Among other things, the Sixth Amendment eliminates the requirement that the maturity date for borrowings under the Company's credit facility would be accelerated to February 28, 2014 if the Company's 2014 Notes have not been refinanced by such date. In addition, the Sixth Amendment eliminates the leverage and pro forma liquidity tests that the Company would otherwise be required to meet under the credit facility in order to refinance the 2014 Notes. The amendment did not result in any changes to the Company's borrowing base or lender commitments under the credit facility.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is management's discussion and analysis of certain significant factors that have affected aspects of our financial position and the results of operations during the periods included in the accompanying Condensed Financial Statements. The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the discussion under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2012, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Condensed Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.

Our revenue, profitability and future growth rate depend on many factors beyond our control, such as economic, political and regulatory developments and competition from other sources of energy. Oil and natural gas prices have been volatile and may fluctuate widely in the future. The following charts highlight the quarterly average NYMEX price trends for crude oil and natural gas since the first quarter of 2010:

Lower oil and natural gas prices may not only decrease our revenues, but may also reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that we can produce economically and therefore potentially lower our oil and natural gas reserves. A substantial or extended decline in oil or natural gas prices may result in impairments of our proved oil and natural gas properties and may materially and adversely affect our future business, financial condition, results of operations, operating cash flows, liquidity or ability to finance planned capital expenditures. Lower oil and natural gas prices may also reduce the amount of our borrowing base under our credit agreement, which is determined at the discretion of the lenders and is based on the collateral value of our proved reserves that have been mortgaged to the lenders. Alternatively, higher oil prices may result in significant non-cash fair value losses being incurred on our oil derivatives, which could cause us to experience net losses when prices rise.

Steam costs are a significant variable component of our operating costs and fluctuate based on the amount of steam we inject and the price of natural gas used to generate steam. We benefit from lower natural gas prices as a consumer of natural gas in our California operations. In the Permian, Uinta, E. Texas and Piceance, we benefit from higher natural gas pricing as a producer of natural gas. In addition, production rates, labor and equipment costs, maintenance expenses and production taxes influence our operating costs. Our results of operations may fluctuate from period to period based on such factors.

### LinnCo, LLC Merger

On February 20, 2013, the Company, Linn Energy, LLC (Linn), LinnCo, LLC (LinnCo), Linn Acquisition Company, LLC, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of LinnCo (LinnCo Merger Sub), Bacchus HoldCo, Inc., a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (HoldCo), and Bacchus Merger Sub, Inc., a direct wholly owned subsidiary of HoldCo (Bacchus Merger Sub), entered into a definitive Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement), pursuant to which LinnCo agreed to acquire the Company in an all-stock transaction in which the Company's stockholders would receive 1.25 shares representing limited liability company interests in LinnCo (LinnCo Shares) for each share of the Company's common stock.

#### **Table of Contents**

The transaction will occur through multiple steps. First, the Company will engage in a holding company merger (the HoldCo Merger) involving HoldCo and Bacchus Merger Sub. In the HoldCo Merger, Bacchus Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of HoldCo, and each issued and outstanding share of the Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock will convert into the right to receive one equivalent share of Class A common stock and one equivalent share of Class B common stock, respectively, of HoldCo.

Second, promptly after the HoldCo Merger, the Company will be converted into a limited liability company. Third, promptly following such conversion, HoldCo will be merged with and into LinnCo Merger Sub, with LinnCo Merger Sub surviving as the surviving company (the LinnCo Merger). In the LinnCo Merger, each share of Holdco's Class A common stock and each share of Holdco's Class B common stock will be converted into 1.25 LinnCo Shares.

Finally, promptly following the LinnCo Merger, LinnCo will contribute all of the outstanding equity interests in LinnCo Merger Sub (and therefore also its indirect ownership interest in the Company) to Linn (the Contribution) in exchange for the issuance to LinnCo (the Issuance) of newly issued Linn common units. The number of Linn common units to be issued to LinnCo in the Issuance will be equal to the greater of (i) the aggregate number of LinnCo Shares issued in the LinnCo Merger and (ii) the number of Linn common units required to cause LinnCo to own no less than one-third of all of the outstanding Linn common units following the Contribution. In addition, for three years following the closing, Linn will pay to LinnCo additional cash distributions in the amount of \$6 million per year.

Following the execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company entered into certain derivative transactions with respect to our production. See Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk for additional information.

The closing of the transactions is subject to customary closing conditions, including approval of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby by the stockholders of the Company and the holders of the shares or units of LinnCo and Linn, respectively, receipt of certain opinions by the parties with respect to the tax-free nature of the transactions, and other customary conditions. The closing will not occur on or prior to October 31, 2013 (the End Date), and any of the Company, Linn, or LinnCo may unilaterally terminate the Merger Agreement after the End Date. There can be no assurances as to whether the parties will agree to extend the End Date or that the parties will refrain from exercising their rights to terminate the Merger Agreement.

On March 21, 2013, a purported stockholder class action captioned Nancy P. Assad Trust v. Berry Petroleum Co., et al. was filed in the District Court for the City and County of Denver, Colorado, No. 13-CV-31365. The action names as defendants the Company, the members of its board of directors, HoldCo, Bacchus Merger Sub, LinnCo, LINN and LinnCo Merger Sub. On April 5, 2013, an amended complaint was filed, which alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the transactions by engaging in an unfair sales process that resulted in an unfair price for the Company, by failing to disclose all material information regarding the transactions, and that the entity defendants aided and abetted those breaches of fiduciary duty. The amended complaint seeks a declaration that the transactions are unlawful and unenforceable, an order directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties, an injunction against consummation of the transactions, or, in the event they are completed, rescission of the transactions, an award of fees and costs, including attorneys' and experts' fees and expenses, and other relief. On May 21, 2013, the Colorado District Court stayed and administratively closed the Nancy P. Assad Trust action in favor of the Hall action described below that is pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery. On July 19, 2013, the plaintiffs in the Nancy P. Assad Trust action voluntarily dismissed the case without prejudice.

On April 12, 2013, a purported stockholder class action captioned David Hall v. Berry Petroleum Co., et al. was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery, C.A. No. 8476-VCG. The complaint names as defendants the Company, the members of its board of directors, HoldCo, Bacchus Merger Sub, LinnCo, LINN and LinnCo Merger Sub. The

complaint alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the transactions by engaging in an unfair sales process that resulted in an unfair price for the Company, by failing to disclose all material information regarding the transactions, and that the entity defendants aided and abetted those breaches of fiduciary duty. The complaint seeks a declaration that the transactions are unlawful and unenforceable, an order directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties, an injunction against consummation of the transactions, or, in the event they are completed, rescission of the transactions, an award of fees and costs, including attorneys' and experts' fees and expenses, and other relief. The Company is unable to estimate a possible loss, or range of possible loss, if any, at this time. The Company believes the claims relating to the merger are without merit, and intends to defend such actions vigorously.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Notable Third Quarter 2013 Items

Generated discretionary cash flow of \$172.9 million from production of 41,413 BOE/D, of which 80% was oil<sup>(1)</sup>

Generated an operating margin of \$51.45 per BOE<sup>(1)</sup>

Increased total production and oil production by 5% from the second quarter of 2013

Increased total production by 14% and oil production by 20% from the third quarter of 2012

Diatomite production averaged 5,260 BOE/D, an 11% increase from the second quarter of 2013

Production from our North Midway-Sunset—New Steam Floods (NMWSS—NSF) properties, which include McKittrick, averaged 3,290 BOE/D, a 24% increase from the second quarter of 2013

Uinta production averaged 8,055 BOE/D, a 10% increase from the second quarter of 2013

Drilled 35 Diatomite wells, 32 Uinta wells, 11 Permian wells and 18 South Midway-Sunset—Steam Floods (SMWSS—Steam Floods) wells

Notable Items and Expectations for the Fourth Quarter and Full Year 2013

Expect to drill approximately 35 Diatomite wells, 19 NMWSS—NSF steam injection wells, 36 Uinta wells and ten Permian wells during the fourth quarter of 2013

Expect full-year 2013 development capital of approximately \$600 million

Expect full-year 2013 production of between 40,500 and 40,800 BOE/D, comprised of approximately 80% oil

Discretionary cash flow and operating margin are considered non-GAAP measures and reference should be made (1)to "Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures" for further explanation as well as reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP measures.

#### Results of Operations.

In the third quarter of 2013, we reported net earnings of \$28.2 million, or \$0.50 per diluted share, and net cash provided by operating activities of \$173.3 million. Net earnings in the third quarter of 2013 included a loss on derivatives of \$24.6 million, net of income taxes, resulting from non-cash changes in fair values. For the first nine months of 2013, we reported net earnings of \$122.0 million, or \$2.19 per diluted share, and net cash provided by operating activities of \$405.3 million. Net earnings for the first nine months of 2013 included a loss on derivatives of \$6.0 million resulting from non-cash changes in fair values, lease write offs of \$1.5 million and professional fees of \$1.6 million associated with the pending LinnCo merger, in each case net of income taxes.

#### **Table of Contents**

Operating Data.

The following table sets forth selected operating data for the three months ended:

	September 30, 2013	%	September 30 2012	, %	June 30, 2013	%
Heavy oil production (BOE/D)	20,824	50	18,149	50	19,775	50
Light oil production (BOE/D)	12,173	30	9,344	26	11,681	30
Total oil production (BOE/D)	32,997	80	27,493	76	31,456	80
Natural gas production (Mcf/D)	50,494	20	52,758	24	48,436	20
Total (BOE/D)(1)	41,413	100	36,286	100	39,529	100
Oil and natural gas, per BOE:						
Average realized sales price	\$79.83		\$70.22		\$74.91	
Average sales price including cash derivative	\$78.34		\$71.45		\$75.58	
settlements	Ψ / 0.5 .		Ψ,1.10		Ψ 7 2 . 2 0	
Oil, per BOE:						
Average WTI price	\$105.81		\$92.20		\$94.17	
Price sensitive royalties(2)	(2.59)		(3.12	)	(2.64	)
Location differential and other(3)	(8.75)		(0.68	)	(4.00	)
Oil derivatives non-cash amortization(4)	<del></del>		(1.10	)		
Oil revenue	\$94.47		\$87.30		\$87.53	
Add: Oil derivatives non-cash amortization(4)	_		1.10		_	
Oil derivative cash settlements(5)	(1.88)		0.64		0.70	
Average realized oil price	\$92.59		\$89.04		\$88.23	
Natural gas price:						
Average Henry Hub price per MMBtu	\$3.58		\$2.80		\$4.10	
Conversion to Mcf	0.25		0.19		0.28	
Natural gas derivatives non-cash amortization(4)	_		0.02		_	
Location differential and other	(0.18)		(0.13	)	(0.29)	)
Natural gas revenue per Mcf	\$3.65		\$2.88		\$4.09	
Add: Natural gas derivatives non-cash amortization(4)	_		(0.02	)	_	
Natural gas derivative cash settlements(5)	0.02		(0.04	)	0.09	
Average realized natural gas price per Mcf	\$3.67		\$2.82		\$4.18	

<sup>(1)</sup>Oil equivalents are determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one barrel of oil.

Our Formax property in SMWSS—Steam Floods is subject to a price-sensitive royalty burden. The royalty is 53% of the amount of the heavy oil posted price above the 2013 base price of \$17.78 per barrel as long as we maintain a minimum steam injection level. We met the steam injection level in the third quarter of 2013 and expect to meet the requirement going forward. The base price escalates at 2% annually and will be \$18.14 in 2014.

In California, the per barrel oil posting differential at September 30, 2013 was (\$3.99), ranged from \$1.58 to (\$3.99) during the third quarter of 2013 and averaged (\$2.38) during the third quarter of 2013. In Utah, the per barrel oil posting differential during the third quarter of 2013 was (\$16.50).

Non-cash amortization of accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) resulting from discontinuing hedge (4) accounting effective January 1, 2010. Recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption oil and natural gas sales. At December 31, 2012, the entire balance of AOCL had been reclassified into earnings.

<sup>(5)</sup> Cash settlements on derivatives are recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption realized and unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives, net.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table sets forth selected operating data for the nine months ended:

	September 30, 2013	%	September 30, 2012	%
Heavy oil production (BOE/D)	20,060	50	17,519	50
Light oil production (BOE/D)	11,816	29	8,781	24
Total oil production (BOE/D)	31,876	79	26,300	74
Natural gas production (Mcf/D)	50,018	21	54,372	26
Total (BOE/D)(1)	40,212	100	35,362	100
Oil and natural gas, per BOE:				
Average realized sales price	\$76.73		\$71.18	
Average sales price including cash derivative settlements	\$76.66		\$72.08	
Oil, per BOE:				
Average WTI price	\$98.20		\$96.16	
Price sensitive royalties(2)	(2.68)		(3.62	)
Location differential and other(3)	(4.69)		(1.00	)
Oil derivatives non-cash amortization(4)			(1.12	)
Oil revenue	\$90.83		\$90.42	
Add: Oil derivatives non-cash amortization(4)	_		1.12	
Oil derivative cash settlements(5)	(0.14)		(0.50)	)
Average realized oil price	\$90.69		\$91.04	
Natural gas price:				
Average Henry Hub price per MMBtu	\$3.67		\$2.58	
Conversion to Mcf	0.26		0.17	
Natural gas derivatives non-cash amortization(4)	_		0.01	
Location differential and other	(0.20)		(0.18	)
Natural gas revenue per Mcf	\$3.73		\$2.58	
Add: Natural gas derivatives non-cash amortization(4)			(0.01	)
Natural gas derivative cash settlements(5)	0.03		0.29	
Average realized natural gas price per Mcf	\$3.76		\$2.86	

<sup>(1)</sup> Oil equivalents are determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one barrel of oil.

Our Formax property in SMWSS—Steam Floods is subject to a price-sensitive royalty burden. The royalty is 53% of

Non-cash amortization of AOCL resulting from discontinuing hedge accounting effective January 1, 2010.

the amount of the heavy oil posted price above the 2013 base price of \$17.78 per barrel as long as we maintain a minimum steam injection level. We met the steam injection level in the third quarter of 2013 and expect to meet the requirement going forward. The base price escalates at 2% annually and will be \$18.14 in 2014. In California, the per barrel oil posting differential at September 30, 2013 was (\$3.99), ranged from \$11.02 to

<sup>(3) (\$3.99)</sup> during the first nine months of 2013 and averaged \$4.16 during the first nine months of 2013. In Utah, the per barrel oil posting differential at September 30, 2013 was (\$16.50), ranged from (\$14.50) to (\$16.50) during the first nine months of 2013 and averaged (\$16.23) during the first nine months of 2013.

<sup>(4)</sup> Recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption oil and natural gas sales. At December 31, 2012, the entire balance of AOCL had been reclassified into earnings.

Cash settlements on derivatives are recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption realized and unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives, net.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table sets forth results of operations (in thousands except per share data) for the three month periods ended:

	September 30,	September 30,	3Q12 to 3Q1	13	June 30,	2Q13 to 30	Q13
	2013	2012	Change		2013	Change	
Oil sales	\$289,217	\$218,952	32	%	\$256,682	13	%
Natural gas sales	16,966	13,964	21	%	18,033	(6	)%
Total oil and natural gas sales	\$306,183	\$232,916	31	%	\$274,715	11	%
Electricity sales	10,046	9,514	6	%	9,513	6	%
Natural gas marketing	1,916	1,939	(1	)%	2,255	(15	)%
Gain on sale of assets		170	(100	)%			%
Interest and other income, net	249	286	(13	)%	374	(33	)%
Total revenues and other income	\$318,394	\$244,825	30	%	\$286,857	11	%
Net earnings	\$28,178	\$18,126	55	%	\$61,364	(54	)%
Diluted earnings per share	\$0.50	\$0.33	52	%	\$1.10	(55	)%

The following table sets forth results of operations (in thousands except per share data) for the nine month periods ended:

	September 30,	September 30,	%	
	2013	2012	Change	
Oil sales	\$796,676	\$649,922	23	%
Natural gas sales	50,994	38,428	33	%
Total oil and natural gas sales	\$847,670	\$688,350	23	%
Electricity sales	27,148	21,354	27	%
Natural gas marketing	6,198	5,378	15	%
Gain on sale of assets	23	1,770	(99	)%
Interest and other income, net	1,098	1,678	(35	)%
Total revenues and other income	\$882,137	\$718,530	23	%
Net earnings	\$121,976	\$133,040	(8	)%
Diluted earnings per share	\$2.19	\$2.39	(8	)%

#### Oil and Natural Gas Sales.

Oil and natural gas sales increased \$73.3 million, or 31%, to \$306.2 million in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase in oil sales volumes between periods. Our oil sales volumes increased 22% in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012, while our natural gas sales volumes decreased 4%. The oil sales volume increase was primarily due to increased oil production from all of our oil properties with the exception of SMWSS—Steam Floods, which declined marginally as expected. Diatomite oil production in the third quarter of 2013 increased 1,760 BOE/D, or 50%, Uinta oil production increased 1,555 BOE/D, or 44%, NMWSS—NSF oil production increased 1,365 BOE/D, or 71%, and Permian oil production increased 1,345 BOE/D, or 24%, in each case compared to the same period in 2012. The decrease in natural gas sales volumes was primarily due to expected production declines from our E. Texas and Piceance properties, partially offset by increased natural gas production from our other natural gas producing properties. In addition to increased oil production, a 14% increase in the average realized sales price, largely due to an 8% increase in realized oil prices and a 27% increase in realized natural gas prices, contributed to the increase in oil and natural gas sales in the third quarter of 2013 from the third quarter of 2012.

Oil and natural gas sales increased \$31.5 million, or 11%, to \$306.2 million in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the second quarter of 2013. The increase was primarily due to a 7% increase in the average realized sales price between periods, largely due to an 8% increase in the average realized oil price. In addition, our oil sales volumes increased 4% between periods primarily due to increased oil production from all of our oil properties with the exception of SMWSS—Steam Floods, which declined marginally as expected. NMWSS—NSF oil production in the third quarter of 2013 increased 640 BOE/D, or 24%, Diatomite oil production increased 530 BOE/D, or 11%, Permian oil production increased 360 BOE/D, or 5%, and Uinta oil

#### **Table of Contents**

production increased 165 BOE/D, or 3%, in each case compared to the second quarter of 2013. The decrease in natural gas sales volumes was primarily due to expected field decline in E. Texas and the Piceance.

Oil and natural gas sales increased \$159.3 million, or 23%, to \$847.7 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. The increase was primarily due to a 22% increase in the oil sales volume between periods, while our natural gas sales volumes decreased 8%. The oil sales volume increase was primarily due to increased oil production from all of our oil properties with the exception of SMWSS—Steam Floods, which declined marginally as expected. Diatomite oil production in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased 1,655 BOE/D, or 54%, Uinta oil production increased 1,580 BOE/D, or 48%, Permian oil production increased 1,535 BOE/D, or 29%, and NMWSS—NSF oil production increased 1,040 BOE/D, or 60%, in each case compared to the same period in 2012. The decrease in natural gas sales volumes was primarily due to expected production declines from our E. Texas and Piceance properties, partially offset by increased natural gas production from our other properties. In addition to increased oil production, an 8% increase in the average sales price, primarily due to a 45% increase in realized natural gas prices contributed to the increase in oil and natural gas sales in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 from the same period in 2012.

Electricity Sales.

The following table sets forth selected results of operations for the periods ended:

	Three Months Ended September 30, September 30, June 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30, September 30	
Electricity	2013	2012	2013	2013	2012
Electricity sales (in thousands)	\$10,046	\$ 9,514	\$9,513	\$27,148	\$ 21,354
Operating costs—electricity generation (in thousands)	\$5,401	\$ 4,727	\$6,337	\$17,034	\$ 14,000
Electric power produced (MWh/D)	1,793	2,146	1,957	1,922	2,099
Electric power sold (MWh/D)	1,720	1,939	1,772	1,781	1,919
Average sales price per MWh	\$63.30	\$ 53.34	\$58.98	\$55.52	\$ 40.62
Fuel gas cost per MMBtu (including transportation)	\$3.60	\$ 2.97	\$3.95	\$3.70	\$ 2.68
Estimated natural gas volumes consumed to produce electricity (MMBtu/D)(1)	13,192	15,417	14,612	14,181	15,187

<sup>(1)</sup> Estimate is based on the historical allocation of fuel costs to electricity.

Electricity sales in the third quarter of 2013 increased 6% compared to the third quarter of 2012 primarily due to a 19% increase in the average sales price of electricity, partially offset by an 11% decrease in electric power sold. Electricity operating costs in the third quarter of 2013 increased 14% compared to the third quarter of 2012 largely due to a 21% increase in fuel gas cost, partially offset by a 16% decrease in electric power produced primarily due to with the shut down of one of our three cogeneration facilities for unscheduled maintenance in August and September 2013.

Electricity sales in the third quarter of 2013 increased 6% compared to the second quarter of 2013, primarily due to a 7% increase in the average sales price of electricity partially offset by a 3% decrease in electric power sold. Electricity operating costs in the third quarter of 2013 decreased 15% compared to the second quarter of 2013 due to a 9% decrease in fuel gas cost and an 8% decrease in electric power produced, primarily due to the shut down of one of our three cogeneration facilities for unscheduled maintenance in August and September 2013.

Electricity sales in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased 27% compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012 primarily due to a 37% increase in the average sales price of electricity, partially offset by a 7% decrease in electric power sold. Electricity operating costs in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 increased 22% compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012 primarily due to a 38% increase in fuel gas cost, partially offset by an 8% decrease in electric power produced.

#### **Table of Contents**

Electricity Sales Contracts. We sell electricity produced by our cogeneration facilities under long-term contracts approved by the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) to two California investor owned utilities (IOUs): Southern California Edison Company (Edison) and Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E). Under these power purchase agreements (PPAs), we are paid an energy payment that reflects the utility's Short Run Avoided Cost (SRAC) of energy plus a capacity payment that reflects a recovery of capital expenditures that would otherwise have been made by the utility. Beginning in 2015, the energy prices we will be paid under the contracts for our Cogen 18 and Cogen 38 facilities will be based on market prices for electricity in California.

Our legacy PPAs for our Cogen 42 facilities expired in May 2012, at which time a transition PPA with Edison became effective. The transition PPA will terminate on July 1, 2014, upon the effectiveness of a seven-year contract for our Cogen 42 facilities pursuant to a competitive solicitation (the RFO PPA).

Our legacy PPA for our Cogen 38 facility expired in March 2012, at which time a transition PPA with PG&E became effective. We intend to participate in future competitive solicitations for the sale of energy and capacity from our Cogen 38 facility, although there is no assurance we will be successful in entering into a new RFO PPA for this facility. Our transition PPA with PG&E will remain in effect until June 2015.

Our legacy PPA with PG&E for our Cogen 18 facility terminated on September 30, 2012 and was replaced with a new Public Utilities Regulatory Policy Act of 1978, as amended (PURPA) PPA with PG&E, effective October 1, 2012, for a term of seven years. Because the rated capacity of our Cogen 18 facility is less than 20 MW, it continues to be eligible for PPAs pursuant to PURPA.

Under the PURPA PPA for our Cogen 18 facility and the transition PPAs for our Cogen 38 and Cogen 42 facilities, we will be paid the CPUC-determined SRAC energy price and a combination of firm and "as-available" capacity payments. Under the RFO PPA for our Cogen 42 facility, we will be paid a negotiated energy and capacity price stipulated in the contract.

The following table summarizes our cogeneration facilities and related contract information as of September 30, 2013:

Facility	Type of Contract	Purchaser	Contract Expiration
Cogen 42	Transition	Edison	Jul 2014(1)
Cogen 18	PURPA	PG&E	Sept 2019
Cogen 38	Transition	PG&E	Jun 2015(2)

<sup>(1)</sup> A new seven-year RFO PPA with Edison will be effective on July 1, 2014.

#### Natural Gas Marketing.

We have long-term firm transportation contracts on the Rockies Express, Wyoming Interstate Company, and Ruby pipelines, each with a total average capacity of 35,000 MMBtu/D. Demand charges for our capacity are reflected in operating costs—oil and natural gas production in our Condensed Statements of Operations. Our current production is insufficient to fully utilize this capacity. To optimize our remaining capacity, we purchase third-party natural gas at the market rate in our producing areas and utilize FERC-approved asset management agreements. Sales and purchases of third-party natural gas are recorded under natural gas marketing in the revenues and expenses sections of the Condensed Statements of Operations, respectively. The pre-tax net earnings of natural gas marketing operations for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were \$0.0 million and \$0.2 million, respectively. The pre-tax

<sup>(2)</sup> We anticipate the current contract will be replaced by a long-term contract with a term of up to seven years pursuant to a future competitive solicitation.

net earnings of natural gas marketing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million, respectively.

Gain on Sale of Assets.

In the third quarter of 2012, we recorded a \$0.2 million gain in conjunction with the sale of our three drilling rigs, which had previously been impaired and recorded at fair value less cost to sell. In the first quarter of 2012, we recorded a \$1.6 million gain in conjunction with the sale of our Nevada Assets. These gains were recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption gain on sale of assets.

#### **Table of Contents**

Oil and Natural Gas Operating and Other Expenses.

The following table sets forth our operating expenses for the three months ended:

	Amount Per BOE			Amount (in thousands)			
	September 30	September 30,	June 30,	September 30, September 30, June 30			
	2013	2012	2013	2013	2012	2013	
Operating costs—oil and natura gas production(1)	<sup>1</sup> \$23.99	\$ 21.17	\$25.37	\$91,416	\$ 70,670	\$91,277	
Production taxes	2.90	2.91	3.06	11,060	9,700	11,004	
DD&A—oil and natural gas production	19.16	17.64	19.42	73,011	58,887	69,839	
General and administrative	4.68	5.32	5.40	17,834	17,767	19,430	
Interest expense	6.56	6.16	6.92	24,996	20,572	24,879	
Total	\$57.29	\$ 53.20	\$60.17	\$218,317	\$ 177,596	\$216,429	

Operating costs—oil and natural gas production includes firm transportation costs of \$8.7 million and \$7.4 million for (1)the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and \$8.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013.

Operating costs—oil and natural gas production in the third quarter of 2013 were \$91.4 million, or \$23.99 per BOE, compared to \$70.7 million, or \$21.17 per BOE, in the third quarter of 2012 and \$91.3 million, or \$25.37 per BOE, in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012 was primarily due to an increase of approximately \$13.5 million in steam costs, largely due to a 21% increase in the price of natural gas used in steam generation and a 28% increase in the volume of natural gas used in steam generation. In addition, \$3.6 million of emissions expense related to California greenhouse gas regulatory compliance in the third quarter of 2013 contributed to the increase in steam costs between periods.

The increase in operating costs—oil and natural gas production in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the second quarter of 2013 was primarily due to a \$4.6 million increase in steam costs, largely due to a 7% increase in fuel consumed in steam generation, partially offset by a 9% decrease in the price of natural gas used in steam generation. Increases in operating costs—oil and natural gas production were partially offset by reductions in well workover activity, primarily in the Permian.

The following table sets forth information relating to steam injection for the three months ended:

	September 30 2013	September 30 2012	3Q12 to 3Q13 Change		June 30, 2013	2Q13 to 3Q13 Change	
Average net volume of steam injected (Bbl/D)	198,774	178,545	11	%	190,085	5	%
Fuel gas cost per MMBtu (including transportation)	\$ 3.60	\$ 2.97	21	%	\$3.95	(9	)%
Approximate net fuel gas volume consumed in steam generation (MMBtu/D)	70,040	54,911	28	%	65,313	7	%

#### **Table of Contents**

Production taxes in the third quarter of 2013 were \$11.1 million, or \$2.90 per BOE, compared to \$9.7 million, or \$2.91 per BOE, in the third quarter of 2012 and \$11.0 million, or \$3.06 per BOE, in the second quarter of 2013. Our production taxes are comprised of both ad valorem taxes and severance taxes. Ad valorem tax is a property tax based on the assessed value of our reserves, well equipment and facilities, and may vary with changes in assessed values or tax rates. Severance tax is a production tax based on the volume of oil and natural gas production, and may vary with changes in production volumes, commodity sales prices and severance tax rates or exemptions. The following table sets forth ad valorem and severance taxes for the three months ended:

	Amount F	Per BOE		Amount (ir	n thousands)	
	Septembe	September 30, September 30, June 30,			30,September	30, June 30,
	2013	2012	2013	2013	2012	2013
Ad valorem taxes	\$1.54	\$ 1.80	\$1.86	\$5,870	\$ 5,999	\$6,687
Severance taxes	1.36	1.11	1.20	5,190	3,701	4,317
Total production taxes	\$2.90	\$ 2.91	\$3.06	\$11,060	\$ 9,700	\$11,004

The decrease in ad valorem taxes in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the second quarter of 2013 was primarily due to decreases in assessed values stemming from successful appraisal disputes in the Permian and Uinta. The increase in severance taxes per BOE in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012 was due to an increase in the average realized sales price and a shift in Utah production toward tribal properties, which are subject to higher severance tax rates. The increase in severance taxes per BOE in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the second quarter of 2013 was primarily due an increase in the average realized sales price between periods.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization—oil and natural gas production (DD&A—oil and natural gas production) in the third quarter of 2013 was \$73.0 million, or \$19.16 per BOE, compared to \$58.9 million, or \$17.64 per BOE, in the third quarter of 2012 and \$69.8 million, or \$19.42 per BOE, in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012 was primarily due to an increase in our DD&A—oil and natural gas production rate per BOE (DD&A rate). Our DD&A rate can fluctuate as a result of changes in the mix of our production, impairments, acquisition and development expenditures and changes in our proved reserves. Our DD&A rate in the third quarter of 2013 was 9% higher than the third quarter of 2012, primarily due to our development expenditures during the past twelve months, which were partially offset by reserve additions, and the increased contribution of our development properties with higher drilling and leasehold acquisition costs than our legacy California properties. The increase in DD&A expense in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the second quarter of 2013 was primarily due to increased production during the third quarter of 2013.

General and administrative expense (G&A) in the third quarter of 2013 was \$17.8 million, or \$4.68 per BOE, compared to \$17.8 million, or \$5.32 per BOE, in the third quarter of 2012 and \$19.4 million, or \$5.40 per BOE, in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012 was primarily due to an increase in employee benefits resulting from new personnel hired during the previous twelve months, as well as an increase in consulting costs. These increases were offset by decreases in employee travel, employee relocation, legal fees and accounting costs. The decrease in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the second quarter of 2013 was primarily due to a decrease in employee insurance costs during the third quarter and \$0.4 million recorded in the second quarter of 2013 related to professional fees associated with the pending LinnCo merger. These decreases in the third quarter compared to the second quarter of 2013 were partially offset by an increase in consulting costs between periods.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table sets forth components of interest expense for the three months ended:

(in thousands)	September 30, 2013	September 30, 2012	June 30, 2013	
Senior notes	\$19,885	\$19,904	\$19,884	
Credit facility	4,477	3,247	4,588	
Amortization of debt issuance costs and net discount	1,759	1,662	1,729	
Amortization of AOCL	_	(221)	_	
Other	403	234	329	
Capitalized interest	(1,528)	(4,254)	(1,651	)
-	\$24,996	\$20,572	\$24,879	

Interest expense in the third quarter of 2013 was \$25.0 million, or \$6.56 per BOE, compared to \$20.6 million, or \$6.16 per BOE, in the third quarter of 2012 and \$24.9 million, or \$6.92 per BOE, in the second quarter of 2013. The increase in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012 was primarily due to a decrease in capitalized interest and an increase in the amount outstanding under our credit facility.

The following table sets forth our operating expenses for the nine months ended:

	Amount Per BOE		Amount (in thousands)	
	September 30,	September 30,	September 30,	September 30,
	2013	2012	2013	2012
Operating costs—oil and natural gas production(1)	\$24.49	\$19.33	\$268,841	\$187,318
Production taxes	2.99	3.10	32,848	30,048
DD&A—oil and natural gas production	19.21	16.40	210,934	158,869
General and administrative	5.42	5.52	59,542	53,473
Interest expense	6.79	6.34	74,562	61,446
Total	\$58.90	\$50.69	\$646,727	\$491,154

Operating costs—oil and natural gas production includes firm transportation costs of \$24.7 million and \$21.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Operating costs in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were \$268.8 million, or \$24.49 per BOE, compared to \$187.3 million, or \$19.33 per BOE, in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase of approximately \$43.7 million in steam costs, largely related to a 38% increase in the price of natural gas used in steam generation and a 29% increase in the volume of natural gas used in steam generation. In addition, \$10.0 million of emissions expense related to California greenhouse gas regulatory compliance in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 contributed to the increase in steam costs between periods. Also increasing over the same time period were well workover costs and contract services costs associated with new wells and increased production in the Uinta and Permian.

The following table sets forth information relating to steam injection for the nine months ended:

	September 30, September 30, %				
	2013	2012	Change	<b>;</b>	
Average net volume of steam injected (Bbl/D)	195,566	160,087	22	%	
Fuel gas cost per MMBtu (including transportation)	\$ 3.70	\$ 2.68	38	%	
Approximate net fuel gas volume consumed in steam generation (MMBtu/D)	67,179	52,015	29	%	

Production taxes in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 were \$32.8 million, or \$2.99 per BOE, compared to \$30.0 million, or \$3.10 per BOE, in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. Our production taxes are comprised of both ad valorem taxes and severance taxes. Ad valorem tax is a property tax based on the assessed value of our reserves, well equipment and facilities, and may vary with changes in assessed values or tax rates. Severance tax is a production tax based

#### **Table of Contents**

on the volume of oil and natural gas production, and may vary with changes in production volumes, commodity sales prices and severance tax rates or exemptions. The following table sets forth ad valorem and severance taxes for the nine months ended:

	Amount Per BOE		Amount (in thousands)	
	September 30, September 30,		, September 30, September	
	2013	2012	2013	2012
Ad valorem taxes	\$1.76	\$1.88	\$19,315	\$18,191
Severance taxes	1.23	1.22	13,533	11,857
Total production taxes	\$2.99	\$3.10	\$32,848	\$30,048

The increase in ad valorem taxes was primarily due to increased reserves in California and increased well count in the Permian and Uinta, partially offset by decreased property valuations in E. Texas and the Piceance. The increase in severance taxes per BOE was primarily due to an increase in the average realized sales price between periods, primarily in the Permian, partially offset by certain severance tax exemptions related to new Uinta wells.

DD&A—oil and natural gas production in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$210.9 million, or \$19.21 per BOE, compared to \$158.9 million, or \$16.40 per BOE, in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase in our DD&A rate, which was 17% higher in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 than in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The higher DD&A rate was primarily due to our development expenditures during the past twelve months, which were partially offset by reserve additions, and the increased contribution of our development properties with higher drilling and leasehold acquisition costs than our legacy California properties. In addition, our overall increase in production of 14% contributed to higher DD&A—oil and natural gas production costs.

G&A in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$59.5 million, or \$5.42 per BOE, compared to \$53.5 million, or \$5.52 per BOE, in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The increase in G&A was primarily due to an increase in employee compensation and benefits resulting from new personnel hired and general pay increases during the previous twelve months and \$2.5 million of professional fees recorded during the first nine months of 2013 associated with the pending LinnCo merger.

The following table sets forth components of interest expense for nine months ended:

(in thousands)	September 30, 2013	September 30, 2012
Senior subordinated notes	\$—	\$4,492
Senior notes	59,654	56,252
Credit facility	13,477	8,310
Amortization of debt issuance costs and net discount	5,197	6,131
Amortization of AOCL		(1,785)
Other	1,212	2,023
Capitalized interest	(4,978)	(13,977)
	\$74,562	\$61,446

Interest expense in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$74.6 million, or \$6.79 per BOE, compared to \$61.4 million, or \$6.34 per BOE, in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The increase was primarily due to a decrease in capitalized interest, an increase in the amount outstanding under our credit facility, the issuance of our 6.375% Senior notes due 2022 (2022 Notes) in March 2012 and a decrease in the amortization of AOCL, which was fully amortized in the fourth quarter of 2012. These increases were partially offset by decreases in interest payments related to the repurchase of \$150 million aggregate principal amount of our 10.25% Senior notes due 2014 (2014

Notes) and related to the redemption of our 8.25% Senior Subordinated notes due 2016 (2016 Notes).

Dry Hole, Abandonment, Impairment and Exploration. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we incurred dry hole, abandonment, impairment and exploration expense of \$1.6 million and \$3.5 million, respectively. The cost recognized in the first nine months of 2013 was primarily related to plugging and abandonment activities, largely in California, and additional dry hole costs associated with our Borden County appraisal wells that were written off in the fourth quarter of

#### **Table of Contents**

2012. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, we incurred dry hole, abandonment, impairment and exploration expense of \$2.8 million and \$7.5 million, respectively. In the third quarter of 2012, we recorded dry hole expense of \$2.3 million associated with mechanical failure encountered on one well near Lake Canyon, which was abandoned in favor of drilling a nearby replacement well. The remaining amounts recorded in dry hole, abandonment, impairment, and exploration in the first nine months of 2012 were primarily related to the purchase of seismic data and plugging and abandonment activities.

Impairment of Oil and Natural Gas Properties. In the first quarter of 2013, we wrote off \$2.5 million related to the expiration of certain leases in the Permian.

Extinguishment of Debt. In the second quarter of 2012, we incurred debt extinguishment expense of \$41.5 million related to the redemption of the entire \$200 million aggregate principal amount our 2016 Notes and the repurchase of \$150 million aggregate principal amount of our 2014 Notes for a total aggregate purchase price of \$397.0 million, including accrued and unpaid interest. The loss of \$41.5 million, recorded in the second quarter of 2012, consists of \$34.7 million for premiums paid over par and \$6.8 million for write-offs of net discounts and debt issuance costs.

Realized and Unrealized Loss (Gain) on Derivatives, Net. The following table sets forth the derivative cash settlements and non-cash fair value gains and losses recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption realized and unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives, net for the periods indicated. See Notes 8 and 9 to the Condensed Financial Statements for more information on our derivative instruments.

	Three Months Ended			Nine Months Ended		
(in thousands)	September 30,	September 30,	June 30,	September 30	O, September 30,	
(iii tiiousaiius)	2013	2012	2013	2013	2012	
Cash payments (receipts):						
Commodity derivatives—oil	\$5,760	\$(1,595)	\$(2,051	) \$1,239	\$3,609	
Commodity derivatives—natural gas	(1067)	170	(384	) (390	) (19,064 )	
Total cash payments (receipts)	\$5,693	\$(1,425)	\$(2,435	) \$849	\$(15,455)	
Mark-to-market loss (gain):						
Commodity derivatives—oil	\$39,401	\$30,228	\$(34,248	) \$8,846	\$(56,465)	
Commodity derivatives—natural gas	(11)99	(516	1,061	713	15,606	
Total mark-to-market loss (gain)	\$39,600	\$29,712	\$(33,187	) \$9,559	\$(40,859)	
Total realized and unrealized loss	\$45,293	\$28,287	\$(35,622	) \$10,408	\$(56,314)	
(gain) on derivatives, net	Φ43,433	\$40,407	\$(33,022	) \$10 <del>,4</del> 06	φ(50,514 )	

In March 2012, we terminated certain of our natural gas derivative instruments, which were associated with a total of 15,000 MMBtu/D for the remainder of 2012. The termination resulted in cash settlements of \$14.7 million, offset by a non-cash fair value loss of \$16.6 million. The net loss of \$1.9 million was recorded in the Condensed Statements of Operations under the caption realized and unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives, net.

Income Tax Expense. The effective income tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was 37.9% and 37.8%, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was 37.4% and 37.9%, respectively. Our provision for income taxes differed from the U.S. statutory rate of 35% primarily due to state income taxes, domestic production activities deduction, percentage depletion, nondeductible employee compensation and other permanent differences.

#### **Table of Contents**

### Drilling Activity.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding drilling activities (including operated and non-operated wells):

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2013		Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013		
	Gross	Net	Gross		Net
Asset Team	Production	Production	Production		Production
	Wells	Wells	Wells		Wells
SMWSS—Steam Floods	18	18	28		28
NMWSS—Diatomite	35	35	105		105
NMWSS—New Steam Floods		_			
Permian	16 (1)	11	50	(2)	34
Uinta	32	31	76	(3)	70
E. Texas		_			
Piceance					
Total	101	95	259		237

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes five non-operated wells in which we have an average interest of approximately 0.68% each, or approximately 0.03 total net wells, and 11 gross operated wells.

#### Properties.

We currently have seven asset teams, as follows: SMWSS—Steam Floods, North Midway-Sunset—Diatomite (NMWSS—Diatomite), NMWSS—NSF, Permian, Uinta, E. Texas and Piceance.

SMWSS—Steam Floods. Our SMWSS—Steam Floods asset team includes our Homebase, Formax, Ethel D, Placerita and Poso Creek properties. These are our legacy assets in California, and we expect total average production to slowly decline over time. In the third quarter of 2013, we drilled nine new producing wells at Placerita, seven new producing wells at Poso Creek, and two new producing wells at Ethel D. In addition, we drilled two new steam injection wells at Homebase. Average daily production in the third quarter of 2013 from all of our SMWSS—Steam Floods properties was approximately 12,275 BOE/D, a 1% decrease from 12,395 BOE/D in the second quarter of 2013.

NMWSS—Diatomite. Our NMWSS—Diatomite asset team includes our Diatomite properties in the San Joaquin Valley. Utilizing our integrated surveillance systems and growing knowledge of the reservoir, in conjunction with a continuous drilling program and expanded infrastructure, we have been able to demonstrate steady quarterly production growth for six consecutive quarters. In the third quarter of 2013, we drilled 35 wells, and we plan to drill approximately 35 additional wells in the fourth quarter of 2013. Average daily production from our NMWSS—Diatomite assets in the third quarter of 2013 was approximately 5,260 BOE/D, an 11% increase from 4,735 BOE/D in the second quarter of 2013.

NMWSS—NSF. Our NMWSS—NSF asset team includes our non-Diatomite North Midway-Sunset assets including our McKittrick, Main Camp, Fairfield, Pan, and USL-12 properties. In the third quarter of 2013, we initiated a steam flood

Includes 16 non-operated wells in which we have an average interest of approximately 0.68% each, or approximately 0.11 total net wells, and 34 gross operated wells.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes two non-operated wells in which we have an average interest of approximately 18.75% each, or approximately 0.4 total net wells.

pilot at Pan and continued to expand our infrastructure and increase steam flood injection at McKittrick. Positive response from steam flood activities increased McKittrick production by approximately 45% in the third quarter of 2013. In the fourth quarter of 2013, we plan to drill 13 steam injection wells and initiate a steam flood pilot at Main Camp, drill four new steam injection wells at McKittrick and drill two additional steam injection wells at Pan. Average daily production from all of our NMWSS—NSF assets in the third quarter of 2013 was approximately 3,290 BOE/D, a 24% increase from 2,645 BOE/D in the second quarter of 2013.

#### **Table of Contents**

Permian. During the third quarter of 2013, we drilled 11 net wells using a three-rig program, and we plan to continue at this pace, drilling approximately ten additional gross wells in the fourth quarter of 2013. Constraints in the form of higher line pressure, shut-ins, periodic gas plant downtime and ethane rejection have continued as a result of record activity levels in the area, and are expected to continue during the fourth quarter of 2013. Average daily production in the third quarter of 2013 from our Permian assets was approximately 8,355 BOE/D, a 4% increase from 8,000 BOE/D in the second quarter of 2013.

Uinta. During the third quarter of 2013, we drilled 32 gross (31 net) wells at our Uinta properties utilizing a two-rig drilling program. All wells we drilled in the third quarter of 2013 were Wasatch/Green River commingled wells; 29 were in Ashley National Forest and three were in Lake Canyon. Our Uinta crude oil is primarily sold in the Salt Lake City market; however, we have the ability to ship our Uinta crude oil via rail to markets outside Salt Lake City and continued to do so in the third quarter of 2013. In the fourth quarter of 2013, we plan to drill 36 gross wells utilizing a three-rig program, including six in Ashley National Forest, three in Lake Canyon and 27 on properties contiguous to Brundage Canyon that were acquired in the third quarter of 2012. Average daily production from our Uinta assets was approximately 8,055 BOE/D in the third quarter of 2013, a 10% increase compared to 7,315 BOE/D in the second quarter of 2013.

E. Texas. We have deferred drilling activities in E. Texas while we focus on higher return oil development opportunities at our other properties. Average daily production in the third quarter of 2013 from the E. Texas assets was approximately 11 MMcf/D compared to 12 MMcf/D in the second quarter of 2013.

Piceance. We have deferred drilling activities in the Piceance while we focus on higher return oil development opportunities at our other properties. Average daily production in the third quarter of 2013 from the Piceance assets was approximately 14 MMcf/D, consistent with 14 MMcf/D in the second quarter of 2013.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Our development, exploitation, and acquisition activities require us to make significant operating and capital expenditures. Historically, we have used cash flow from operations and borrowings under our credit facility as our primary sources of liquidity. We have also used the debt and equity markets as other sources of financing to fund large acquisitions and other transactions and, as market conditions have permitted, we have engaged in asset monetization transactions. Our ability to access the debt and equity capital markets on economic terms is affected by general economic conditions, the financial markets, the credit ratings assigned to our debt by independent credit rating agencies, our operational and financial performance, the value and performance of equity and debt securities, prevailing commodity prices and other macroeconomic factors outside of our control.

At September 30, 2013, we had a working capital deficit of approximately \$223.5 million. This deficit included \$204.1 million, net of unamortized discount of \$1.1 million, related to our 2014 Notes, which mature on June 1, 2014. Although we believe we will be able to complete a refinancing transaction prior to the maturity of the 2014 Notes, no assurances can be made that we will be able to do so. See Maturity of 2014 Notes below. We generally maintain a working capital deficit because we use excess cash to reduce borrowings under our credit facility. Other than current maturities of senior notes, our working capital fluctuates for various reasons, including changes in the fair value of our commodity derivative instruments.

Changes in the market prices for oil and natural gas directly impact the level of cash flows generated from our operations. We employ derivative instruments in our risk management strategy in an attempt to minimize the adverse effects of wide fluctuations in commodity prices on our cash flow. As of September 30, 2013, we had approximately 60% and 55% of our expected 2013 and 2014 oil production hedged, respectively. This level of derivatives is expected to provide a measure of certainty of the cash flows that we will receive for a portion of our production in

2013 and 2014. In the future, we may increase or decrease our derivative positions. Our derivatives counterparties are commercial banks that are parties to our credit facility or affiliates of those banks. See Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below and Notes 8 and 9 to the Condensed Financial Statements for further details about our derivative instruments.

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2013, our credit facility, which matures on May 13, 2016, had a borrowing base of \$1.4 billion, subject to lender commitments. At September 30, 2013, lender commitments under the facility were \$1.2 billion.

Borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at either (i) LIBOR plus a margin between 1.50% and 2.50% or (ii) the prime rate plus a margin between 0.50% and 1.50%, in each case based on the amount utilized. The annual commitment fee on the unused portion of the credit facility ranges between 0.35% and 0.50% based on the amount utilized.

#### **Table of Contents**

As of September 30, 2013, there were \$636.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the credit facility and \$26.8 million in outstanding letters of credit, leaving \$537.2 million in borrowing capacity available under the credit facility. The maximum amount available under the credit facility is subject to semi-annual redeterminations of the borrowing base in April and October of each year, based on the value of our proved oil and natural gas reserves, in accordance with the lenders' customary procedures and practices. We and the lenders each have a right to one additional redetermination each year. On October 22, 2013, we entered into a Sixth Amendment to our credit facility, which amended certain terms of the credit facility. See Note 12 to the Condensed Financial Statements.

The credit facility contains certain covenants, which, among other things, require the maintenance of (i) an interest coverage ratio of at least 2.75 to 1.0 and (ii) a minimum current ratio of 1.0 to 1.0. The credit facility also contains other customary covenants, subject to certain agreed exceptions, including covenants restricting our ability to, among other things, owe or be liable for indebtedness; create, assume or permit to exist liens; be a party to or be liable on any hedging contract; engage in mergers or consolidations; transfer, lease, exchange, alienate or dispose of our material assets or properties; declare dividends on or redeem or repurchase our capital stock; make any acquisitions of, capital contributions to or other investments in any entity or property; extend credit or make advances or loans; engage in transactions with affiliates; and enter into, create or allow to exist contractual obligations limiting our ability to grant liens on our assets to the lenders under the credit facility. As of September 30, 2013, we were in compliance with all financial covenants and have complied with all financial covenants for all prior periods presented.

Outstanding Indebtedness. As of September 30, 2013 we had the following senior notes outstanding:

\$205.3 million aggregate principal amount of our 2014 Notes;

\$300 million aggregate principal amount of our 6.75% Senior notes due 2020; and

\$600 million aggregate principal amount of our 2022 Notes.

The indentures governing our senior notes contain provisions that limit our ability to incur, assume or guarantee additional indebtedness; issue redeemable stock and preferred stock; pay dividends or distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock; prepay, redeem or repurchase debt that is junior in right of payment to our senior and subordinated notes; make loans and other types of investments; incur liens; restrict dividends, loans or asset transfers from our subsidiaries; sell or otherwise dispose of assets, including capital stock of subsidiaries; consolidate or merge with or into, or sell substantially all of our assets to, another person; enter into transactions with affiliates; and enter into new lines of business. Upon specified change in control events, we will be required to make offers to repurchase our senior notes at amounts specified in the indentures governing such notes.

Maturity of 2014 Notes. Our 2014 Notes are scheduled to mature on June 1, 2014. As a result, all \$205.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Notes is classified as a current obligation on our Condensed Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2013. Our ability to repay or refinance the aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Notes is subject to restrictions contained in the Merger Agreement. See Note 11 to the Condensed Financial Statements. While we have not yet determined how we will repay or refinance the 2014 Notes, we may do so through multiple methods which we may pursue separately or in combination, including (i) issuing new debt or equity securities and (ii) borrowing under our credit facility. Although we believe we will be able to complete a refinancing transaction prior to the maturity of the 2014 Notes, if we are unable to complete a refinancing or otherwise repay such debt using cash on hand and borrowings under our credit facility, we would be in default under the indenture governing the 2014 Notes, which would also cause us to be in default under our credit facility and the indentures governing our other senior notes, and would result in indebtedness outstanding under those agreements to be declared immediately due and payable.

Credit Ratings. Our credit risk is evaluated by two independent rating agencies based on publicly available information and information obtained during our ongoing discussions with the rating agencies. Moody's Investor Services and Standard & Poor's Rating Services currently rate our senior notes and have assigned us a credit rating. We do not have any contractual rights or obligations affected by our credit ratings, nor do we have any credit rating triggers that would accelerate the maturity of amounts due under our current outstanding debt. However, our ability to raise funds and the costs of any financing activities will be affected by our credit rating at the time any such financing activities are conducted.

#### **Table of Contents**

Historical Cash Flows.

	Nine Months Ended			
(in thousands)	September 30,	September 30,		
(iii tilousalius)	2013	2012		
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$405,306	\$391,616		
Net cash used in investing activities	(442,460	) (599,725	)	
Net cash provided by financing activities	60,897	207,915		
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	\$23,743	\$(194	)	

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities is primarily affected by the price of oil and natural gas, production volumes and changes in working capital. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities of \$13.7 million in the first nine months of 2013 compared to the first nine months of 2012 was primarily due to changes in current assets and liabilities (including bank overdraft but excluding cash), which decreased cash provided by operating activities by \$82.7 million. This decrease was partially offset by a 21% increase in average oil production and an 8% increase in average sales price between periods.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities is primarily comprised of acquisition, exploration and development of oil and natural gas properties net of dispositions of oil and natural gas properties. The decrease of \$157.3 million in net cash used in investing activities in the first nine months of 2013 compared to the first nine months of 2012 was primarily due to decreases in development and exploration activity, property acquisitions and capitalized interest.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities in the first nine months of 2013 included net borrowings of \$73.1 million under our credit facility. Net cash provided by financing activities in the first nine months of 2012 included net proceeds of \$589.5 million from the issuance of \$600 million aggregate principal amount of our 2022 Notes, partially offset by the repurchase of \$150 million aggregate principal amount of our 2014 Notes for an aggregate purchase price of \$181.5 million, the repurchase of all \$200 million aggregate principal amount of our 2016 Notes for an aggregate purchase price of \$215.5 million and net repayments of \$21.5 million of borrowings under our credit facility.

#### Capital Expenditures.

We establish a capital budget for each calendar year based on our development opportunities and the expected cash flow from operations for that year. We may revise our capital budget during the year as a result of acquisitions and/or drilling outcomes or significant changes in cash flows.

We believe that our cash flow provided by operating activities and funds available under our credit facility will be sufficient to fund our operating and capital expenditures budget and our short-term contractual operations for the remainder of 2013. However, if our revenue and cash flow decrease as a result of deterioration in economic conditions or an adverse change in commodity prices, we may have to reduce our spending levels. As we have operational control of substantially all of our assets and we have limited drilling commitments, we believe that we have the financial flexibility to adjust our spending levels, if necessary, to meet our financial obligations.

Recent Accounting Standards and Updates.

For further information on the potential effects of new accounting pronouncements see Note 1 to the Condensed Financial Statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures.

Discretionary Cash Flow. Discretionary cash flow is a non-GAAP liquidity measure. Discretionary cash flow consists of cash provided by operating activities before changes in working capital items. Management uses discretionary cash flow as a measure of liquidity and believes it provides useful information to investors because it assesses cash flow from operations for each period before changes in working capital, which fluctuates due to the timing of collections of receivables and the settlements of liabilities. The following table provides a reconciliation of discretionary cash flow to cash provided by operating activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, for the periods presented:

	Three Months Ended	Nine Months Ended
(in thousands)	September 30, 2013	September 30, 2013
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$173,346	\$405,306
Net increase in current assets	13,243	29,519
Net (increase) decrease in current liabilities, including book overdraft	(13,645)	16,988
Discretionary cash flow	\$172,944	\$451,813

Operating Margin per BOE. Operating margin per BOE is a non-GAAP performance measure. Operating margin per BOE consists of average sale price including cash derivative settlements less operating costs—oil and natural and production taxes, each on a per BOE basis. Management uses operating margin per BOE as a measure of profitability and believes it provides useful information to investors because it relates our oil and natural gas revenue and oil and natural gas operating expenses to our total units of production, providing a gross margin per unit of production and allowing investors to evaluate how our profitability varies on a per unit basis each period.

	Three Months Ended	Nine Months Ended
(per BOE)	September 30, 2013	September 30, 2013
Average sales price including cash derivative settlements	\$78.34	\$76.66
Operating costs—oil and natural gas production	23.99	24.49
Production taxes	2.90	2.99
Operating margin	\$51.45	\$49.18

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As discussed in Note 8 to the Condensed Financial Statements, to minimize the effect of a downturn in oil and natural gas prices and protect our profitability and the economics of our development plans, we enter into crude oil and natural gas derivative contracts from time to time. The terms of the contracts depend on various factors, including management's view of future crude oil and natural gas prices, acquisition economics on purchased assets and our future financial commitments. This price hedging program is designed to moderate the effects of a severe crude oil and natural gas price downturn while allowing us to participate in some commodity price increases. In California, we benefit from lower natural gas pricing, as we are a consumer of natural gas in our operations, and elsewhere we benefit from higher natural gas pricing. We have hedged, and may hedge in the future, both natural gas purchases and sales as determined appropriate by management. Management regularly monitors the crude oil and natural gas markets and our financial commitments to determine if, when, and at what level some form of crude oil and/or natural gas hedging and/or basis adjustments or other price protection is appropriate and in accordance with policy established by our board of directors. Currently, our derivatives are in the form of swaps and collars, However, we may use a variety of derivative instruments in the future to hedge WTI or the index natural gas price. A three-way collar is a combination of three options. The base structure is a normal collar. A short option is added to fund the improvement of the long strike in the base collar. For oil sales three way collars, a purchased put and a sold call comprise the base collar. A sold put below is added to fund the raising of the strike on the purchased put. The purchased put establishes a minimum price unless the market price falls below the sold put, at which point the minimum price would be NYMEX plus the difference between the purchased put and the sold put strike price. The sold call establishes a maximum price (the ceiling) we will receive for the volumes under contract. For natural gas purchase three-way collars, a purchased call and a sold put comprise the base collar. A sold call above is added to fund the lowering of the strike on the purchased call. The purchased call establishes a maximum price unless the market price rises above the sold call, at which point the maximum price would be NYMEX plus the difference between the purchased call and the sold call strike price. The sold put establishes a minimum price (the floor) we will pay for the volumes under contract. As of September 30, 2013, we had approximately 60% and 55% of our expected 2013 and 2014 oil production hedged, respectively. A hypothetical \$10 increase in the oil prices used and \$1 increase in the natural gas prices used to calculate the fair values of our derivative instruments at September 30, 2013 would decrease the fair value of our crude oil derivative instruments by \$81.2 million and would increase the fair value of our natural gas derivative instruments by \$0.6 million. A hypothetical \$10 decrease in the oil prices used and \$1 decrease in the natural gas prices used to calculate the fair values of our derivative instruments at September 30, 2013 would increase the fair value of our crude oil derivative instruments by \$74.8 million and would decrease the fair value of our natural gas derivative instruments by \$0.3 million.

### Table of Contents

The following table summarizes our commodity derivative position as of September 30, 2013:

Term	Average Barrels Per Day	Sold Put / Purchased Put / Sold Call	Term	Average MMBtu/D or MMTCDE	Average Prices
Crude Oil Sales (NYM	EX WTI)	Three-Way Collars	Crude Oil Sales (NYMEX WTI) Swaps(1)		
Full year 2013	1,000	\$65.00/\$85.00/\$95.00	Full year 2014	4,700	\$90.00
Full year 2013	1,000	\$65.00/\$85.00/\$97.25	Full year 2014	1,800	\$90.06
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$87.00/\$105.00	Full year 2014	2,000	\$90.10
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$88.00/\$106.00	Full year 2014	1,000	\$90.17
Full year 2013	1,000	\$60.00/\$80.00/\$103.30	Full year 2014	1,000	\$90.50
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$88.15/\$100.00	Full year 2014	1,000	\$90.59
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$86.85/\$100.00	•	-	TI to ICE Brent) Basis
Full year 2013	1,000	\$69.70/\$85.00/\$100.00	Full year 2014	1,500	\$11.40
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$87.00/\$108.50	Full year 2014	1,500	\$11.52
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$116.50	Full year 2014	1,500	\$11.55
Full year 2013	1,000	\$70.00/\$95.00/\$120.10	Full year 2014	2,250	\$11.60
Full year 2013	500	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$100.00	Full year 2014	500	\$11.65
Full year 2013	500	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$100.00	Full year 2014	500	\$11.70
Full year 2013	1,000	\$75.00/\$90.00/\$101.85	Full year 2014	2,250	\$11.80
Full year 2013	800	\$75.00/\$95.00/\$101.70	Full year 2015	1,200	\$11.40
Full year 2013 and 2014	1,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$100.00	Full year 2015	1,200	\$11.52
Full year 2013 and 2014	1,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$120.00	Full year 2015	1,200	\$11.55
Full year 2013 and 2014	1,000	\$77.95/\$105.00/\$115.00	Full year 2015	1,800	\$11.60
Full year 2013 and 2014	1,000	\$80.00/\$107.00/\$119.60	Full year 2015	400	\$11.65
Full year 2014	1,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$102.00	Full year 2015	400	\$11.70
Full year 2014	1,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$121.80	Full year 2015	1,800	\$11.80
Full year 2014	1,500	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$100.00	<u> </u>	NYMEX WT	TI to Midland) Basis
Full year 2014 and 2015	1,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$104.85	April - Dec 2013	2,000	\$1.20
Full year 2015	2,000	\$70.00/\$90.00/\$100.00	April - Dec 2013	-	\$1.75
Crude Oil Sales (ICE B	Brent) Thre	e-Way Collars	Natural Gas Purchased Calls	hases (NYMI	EX SoCal Border)
Full Year 2013	1,000	\$80.00/\$100.00/\$115.00	Full year 2013	5,000	\$3.50
Full year 2013 and 2014	1,000	\$80.00/\$100.00/\$114.05	Natural Gas Purch Three-Way Colla	`	EX SoCal Border)
			Full year 2013	1,000	\$2.90 / \$4.00 / \$5.00
			Full year 2013	1,000	\$2.96 / \$4.25 / \$5.25
			Full year 2013	1,000	\$2.70 / \$4.00 / \$5.00
			Full year 2013	2,000	\$3.03 / \$4.25 / \$5.25

<sup>(1)</sup>Derivative transactions we entered into with respect to our production following the execution of the Merger Agreement. The total fair value of these derivative instruments resulted in a net asset of \$3.5 million on our

September 30, 2013 Condensed Balance Sheet. The Merger Agreement provides that, in general, LinnCo and LINN will bear all of the benefits and burdens of these derivative transactions if the Merger Agreement is terminated. However, if the Merger Agreement is terminated because (1) our board of directors changes its recommendation for the merger or (2) we terminate the Merger Agreement to accept a "company superior proposal," then we and LinnCo will each bear half of the burdens and receive half of the benefits associated with the derivative transactions. In addition, if one party willfully breaches its obligations under the merger agreement, then the breaching party will bear all of the losses associated with the derivative transactions and, if the derivative transactions resulted in a gain, then the non-breaching party will receive all of such gain.

Excluded from the table above are our calendar month average swaps, which protect us from variances in market pricing conditions of certain of our sales contracts. These derivative contracts protect 5,000 BOE/D of our Permian sales volumes and have differentials of \$0.07 to \$0.075 during 2013 and \$0.32 during 2014.

### **Table of Contents**

#### Interest Rate Risk

Our credit facility allows us to fix the interest rate for all or a portion of the principal balance for a period up to 12 months. To the extent the interest rate is fixed, interest rate changes affect the instrument's fair market value but do not impact results of operations or cash flows. Conversely, for the portion of the credit facility that has a floating interest rate, interest rate changes will not affect the fair market value but will impact future results of operations and cash flows. Changes in interest rates do not affect the amount of interest we pay on our fixed-rate debt. At September 30, 2013, our outstanding principal balance under our credit facility was \$636.0 million and the weighted average interest rate on the outstanding principal balance was 2.19%. At September 30, 2013, the carrying amount approximated fair market value. Assuming a constant debt level of \$1.7 billion, the cash flow impact resulting from a 100 basis point change in interest rates during periods when the interest rate is not fixed would be \$4.0 million over a 12-month time period.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of September 30, 2013, we have carried out an evaluation under the supervision of, and with the participation of, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act).

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of September 30, 2013, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules and forms, and that information required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended September 30, 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We may make changes in our internal control procedures from time to time in the future. Forward Looking Statements

Any statements in this Form 10-Q that are not historical facts, including with respect to expected future production, are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Words such as "plan," "will," "intend," "continue," "target(s)," "expect," "achieve," "future," "may," "could," "goal(s)," "anticipate," "estimate" or other comparable words or phrases, or the negative of those words, and other words of similar meaning indicate forward-looking statements and important factors which could affect actual results. Forward-looking statements are made based on management's current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects upon Berry Petroleum Company. These items are discussed at length in Part I, Item 1A. of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2013, under the heading "Risk Factors".

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

#### Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth under "Legal Matters" in Note 10 of our Notes to Condensed Financial Statements included in Item 1 of Part I of this quarterly report is incorporated by reference in response to this item.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business has many risks. Factors that could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and operating cash flows are described in Item 1A. of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 filed with the SEC on February 28, 2013, and Item 1A. of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2013. Except as set forth below, as of the date of this report, these risk factors have not significantly changed. This information should be considered carefully, together with other information in this report and other reports and materials we file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

The LinnCo merger will not be completed on or prior to October 31, 2013 (the End Date). After the End Date, any of the Company, Linn, or LinnCo may unilaterally terminate the merger agreement at any time prior to completion of the merger. The closing will not occur on or prior to the End Date, and any of the Company, Linn, or LinnCo may unilaterally terminate the Merger Agreement after the End Date. There can be no assurances as to whether the parties will agree to extend the End Date or that the parties will refrain from exercising their rights to terminate the Merger Agreement.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities None.

r tone.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

On October 22, 2013, as part of the semi-annual borrowing base redetermination process, we entered into the Sixth Amendment to our Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (the Sixth Amendment). Among other things, the Sixth Amendment eliminates the requirement that the maturity date for borrowings under our credit facility would be accelerated to February 28, 2014 if our 2014 Notes have not been refinanced by such date. In addition, the Sixth Amendment eliminates the leverage and pro forma liquidity tests that we would otherwise be required to meet under the credit facility in order to refinance the 2014 Notes. The amendment did not result in any changes to our borrowing base or lender commitments under the credit facility.

# Table of Contents

### Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No.	Description of Exhibit
10.1*	Fifth Amendment to its Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated May 21, 2012, by and among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto
10.2*	Sixth Amendment to its Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated October 22, 2013, by and among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto
12.1*	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
31.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1**	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2**	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101*	Interactive data files

<sup>\*</sup>Filed herewith.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Furnished herewith.

### Table of Contents

### **SIGNATURE**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereto duly authorized.

BERRY PETROLEUM COMPANY /s/ JAMIE L. WHEAT Jamie L. Wheat Vice President and Controller (Principal Accounting Officer) Date: October 24, 2013